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Management Discussion and Analysis

RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Reporting Year”), the audited consolidated profit for the year of Oriental Press Group 
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, “the Group”) amounted to HK$212,831,000, compared with a loss of 
HK$11,567,000 recorded for the same period last year. The strong profit growth was mainly due to the decline in production 
costs and operating expenses. Besides, the profit was also contributed by exchange gain on the Australian Dollar and the 
increased fair value of investment properties. In addition, the Group received support subsidies from the governments of Hong 
Kong and Australia during the Reporting Year, which resulted in an increase in its profit by HK$61,289,000.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

The Group always maintains a strong liquidity. The net current assets as at 31 March 2021 amounted to approximately 
HK$1,013,168,000 (2020: HK$875,103,000), which include time deposits, bank balances and cash amounting to 
approximately HK$654,265,000 (2020: HK$594,108,000). As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s gearing ratio, measured on the 
basis of total borrowings as a percentage of total shareholders’ equity, was 0.4% (2020: 0.3%).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the Reporting Year, the Group’s capital expenditure was approximately HK$4,212,000 (2020: HK$8,075,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had no material contingent liability.

DIVIDENDS

The directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”) recommend a final dividend of HK2 cents per share (2020: Nil) of the Company 
(the “Share(s)”) and special dividend of HK5 cents per Share (2020: Nil) for the Reporting Year, payable to the shareholders of 
the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company on 19 August 2021. 
Together with the paid interim dividend of HK2 cents per Share (2020: Nil), the dividends for the year amount to HK9 cents per 
Share (2020: Nil). The proposed final dividend and special dividend will be payable on or around 1 September 2021.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 5 August 2021 to Wednesday, 11 August 2021 
(both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to qualify for attending the annual 
general meeting of the Company (“AGM”) to be held on Wednesday, 11 August 2021 and voting in the meeting, all transfers 
accompanied with the relevant Share certificates must be deposited with the Company’s Share registrar, Tricor Friendly 
Limited, whose address is at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, for registration no later than 
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 4 August 2021.
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Subject to Shareholders’ approval at the AGM, the proposed final dividend and special dividend will be distributed to the 
Shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Members of the Company on Thursday, 19 August 2021. The Register 
of Members of the Company will be closed on Thursday, 19 August 2021. In order to qualify for payment of the recommended 
final dividend and special dividend, all transfers accompanied with the relevant Share certificates must be deposited with the 
Company’s Share registrar, Tricor Friendly Limited, whose address is at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, 
Hong Kong, for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 19 August 2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW

“Oriental Daily News” continues to be the best-selling and most widely read newspaper in Hong Kong, and has so remained 
in the last 45 years. Over the past year, Hong Kong was affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. When the community was filled 
with fear and anxiety, information relating to the pandemic became particularly important. The professional team of the “Oriental 
Daily News” duly performed its duties with uncompromising courage, providing detailed information and speaking up against 
injustice, and continuing to serve as the Fourth Estate with a monitoring role.

“on.cc” is a leading online news media platform in Hong Kong. It is dedicated to providing readers with the latest and fastest 
news and information with innovative perspectives from around the world. During the Reporting Year, the website and mobile 
platform recorded 830 million monthly page views, which proves its great popularity among readers. “on.cc” also attaches 
great importance to user experience, with a clear and user-friendly interface. The new “Fun&Star” (繽FUN星網) platform has 
been launched to strengthen entertainment and lifestyle contents. There is also the latest platform “Sport Live” (體波), which 
provides global sports news and takes the industry-leading live online broadcast of sports events to a higher level. Following 
the integration of the electronic version of “Oriental Daily News” into our on.cc App, the most powerful information from on.cc 
is now just one tap away. “on.cc” opens up new markets by developing mobile game applications. “Racecourse Boss” (馬場
Boss) has become one of the most popular horse-racing Apps in Hong Kong. With “Hall of Sic Bo” (骰寶坊) and “SLOTONIAN” 
as fresh blood, the Group’s digital media business has been enhanced.

“onCH” starts from Hong Kong and embraces the world. It features news commentaries and analyses from multiple angles, 
allowing readers to keep abreast of global trends. Thanks to the professional production and popular anchors, 15 million 
cross-platform video views were recorded, which shows its reputation among readers. “onCH” also strives to strengthen live 
broadcasts and diversified programmes. During the COVID-19, the crew made HD live coverage from epidemic areas. The 
“Healthcare” (醫健) channel debunks common medical myths in a lively and interesting manner. Financial programmes such as 
“Stock Master Mind” (股壇MM) and “Finance Popcorn Show” (中環剝花生) are widely popular among stock investors. There 
is also the exclusive live online broadcast of Mark Six and the trailblazing live broadcast of sports events. “onCH” is indeed a 
bellwether for news streaming and live broadcast platforms in Hong Kong.

“Money18” is the financial information website with amongst the highest page views in Hong Kong as well as a free real-time 
quote website designated by HKEX. The number of downloads of its mobile app exceeded 2.31 million, while the number of 
followers on Facebook exceeded 138,000, making it a popular and essential tool for stock investors. In addition to the free real-
time stock quote function, the unique stock screening tool “Volume Radar” (異動雷達) even provides professional technical 
indicators, showing outperforming and underperforming momentum stocks at a glance. Besides, “Breaking News” (新聞總
覽) provides the fastest and latest financial news, while “Market Tips” (貼市貼士) shares the stories and analysis of successful 
investors. There are also “Warrants Search” (輪證搜尋), “Top 20 Warrants” (窩輪20大), “Finance and Investment” (投資理
財) and “Finance TV” (東網電視財經). “Money18” has become one of the most influential financial information brands in the 
territory. 
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In the past year, the COVID-19 pandemic plagued the world, and the economic performance was lacklustre. With the social 
distancing, dine-in service restrictions, bar suspension and other measures, the catering industry in Hong Kong was badly 
hit. The consumer market was sluggish and unemployment rate was high. Our clients reduced their expenditures or shelved 
their publicity plans, causing a sharp drop in the Group’s media business revenue. The rise of online shopping has also had 
a structural impact on the advertising revenue of “Oriental Daily News”, while the decline in distribution income also indicates 
that the room for survival of print newspapers has further narrowed. During the Reporting Year, the revenue from publication of 
newspaper and advertising was HK$524,647,000, representing a decrease of HK$135,087,000 or 20.5% year on year. With 
the positive impact of the stay-at-home economy during the epidemic, the Group recorded revenue of HK$127,519,000 for its 
digital media business, up by 8.8% or HK$10,349,000 year on year. The Group was able to deliver outstanding results during 
the Reporting Year, much owed to the stringent cost-saving policy, together with the important factor of declining production 
costs. When facing the challenge of the pandemic, the management and employees of the Group continued to work hard; they 
deserved additional encouragement and support which is reflected in the Group’s expenditure on special benefits during the 
Reporting Year amounted to HK$5,200,000.

In the Reporting Year, the rental income from investment properties in Hong Kong stood at HK$3,665,000, similar to that in 
the same period last year. The property valuation rose by HK$2,200,000 or 2% year on year. Regarding investment properties 
in Australia, under the regulation enacted by Australian Government, some tenants and hotel operator requested rent relief or 
deferred rental payment, which caused the total revenue in Australian business dropped to HK$16,313,000 in the Reporting 
Year, representing a decrease by HK$4,038,000 or 19.8% year on year. Nevertheless, the rental demand for commercial 
and retail premises in Australia remained strong despite the pandemic, which led to a rebound in the valuation of commercial 
premises. In general, the fair value of investment properties increased during the year, and contributed to the profit of the 
Group by approximately HK$39,896,000. The Australian dollar rose during the Reporting Year, resulting in an exchange gain of 
HK$41,634,000.

The growth of the Group’s money lending business was better than expected. During the economic downturn, the demand 
for borrowing was particularly strong. Refinancing and mortgage to-up cases increased in the market. Oriental FA Limited 
(“Oriental FA”) seized the opportunity to attract high-quality clients and managed to promote the overall profit. At the end of the 
Reporting Year, the total outstanding loan amount stood at HK$290,482,000, an increase of 30% year on year. The annual 
interest rate of clients’ loans receivable ranged from 6.96% to 21.96% and staff mortgage loans at 1.6%. The total loan interest 
income amounted to HK$21,081,000, up by HK$5,623,000 or 36% year on year. It was the best-performing segment among 
the Group’s businesses, illustrating the competitive advantage of the Group having diversified its business. Besides, in order to 
recover HK$11,500,000 in arrears together with overdue interest from a loan client, Oriental FA has successfully obtained a writ 
of possession from the court and will arrange a property auction in accordance with legal procedures to recover the arrears.
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

As Hong Kong residents begin to get vaccinated against COVID-19 infection, the pandemic may become controllable. Besides, 
the Government plans to distribute electronic consumption vouchers, retail industry can expect a recovery. Once the market 
starts to recover, customers will certainly increase their advertising budgets, which will be beneficial to the growth of the 
Group’s advertising revenue. A well-known IT marketing research company, Aristo Market Research & Consulting Company 
Limited, conducted a readership survey from 10 May to 26 May 2021, and found that the readership of “Oriental Daily News” 
reached 3,090,368, which is 1,613,715 or 109.3% higher than “Apple Daily”. The Board believes that “Oriental Daily News” 
still has a competitive advantage in the paid newspaper market, and its advertising revenue is expected to rise steadily in the 
coming year. The Board also understands that the business of printed media is on the decline and online marketing is the 
dominant trend. We have been actively investing in resources for the development of digital media. “On.cc” will enrich its news 
and information content in the coming year. It is committed to developing new technologies and functions. Besides, it intends to 
launch information platforms mainly for young people and try providing high-quality multimedia content and functions in a paid 
form, so as to enhance user experience, expand the readership and increase page views. By leveraging on the advantages of 
the cross-media platform, we aim at increasing our market share as well as the profit and revenue of our digital media business.

Looking forward to the coming year, the Group’s media business revenue will remain flat. The management will appropriately 
implement cost-saving measures and adjust their intensity as the case may be. It is believed that costs can be stabilized, 
notwithstanding, the upward trend of production costs.

The Board believes that there is still a lot of room for improvement in our money lending business; we plan to increase the 
proportion of our investment in this segment. We will continue to target high-quality and high-net-worth clients with large 
mortgage loans, seizing the golden opportunity. It is believed that the income of the money lending business will be a glowing 
by approximately 10% in the coming year. The Board notices that the prices of residential properties in Hong Kong remain high. 
Therefore, we will adopt a more cautious approach on credit approval, balancing risks by monitoring the loan-to-value ratio cap 
and adjusting interest rates. We will closely monitor repayments and the market value trends of mortgaged properties, so as to 
minimize the expected credit risks.
 
In respect of the investment properties in Hong Kong, the rental income is expected to decrease slightly in the coming year, 
but its impact on the overall performance of the Group will be minimal. The investment properties in Australia are more subject 
to the anti-pandemic policies of the local government, so it may take a longer time for the rental income to re-stabilize. As the 
Australian real estate market is booming, the Group may consider selling some of the investment properties with satisfactory 
returns to earn substantial profits for shareholders. The Board also believes that there is no risk of substantial depreciation 
of the Australian Dollars during the upcoming year. Looking forward to the coming year, the global economy will gradually 
recover, and the valuation of investment properties is expected to regain the upward momentum. Therefore, the Group’s overall 
performance is expected to remain optimistic in the coming year.

Business diversification is the development strategy of the Group, as it can open up more sources of revenue. The satisfactory 
performance of the Group over the past decade has proved that this strategy is correct. In particular, the impressive 
performance during the Reporting Year is encouraging. Instead of being complacent, the Group will continue to corporatize and 
diversify its businesses with reforms, in addition to exploring investment opportunities in the Mainland, Macau and overseas. 
The Board believes that the current name of the Group, that is, “Oriental Press Group Limited” seems not appropriately and 
sufficiently reflect the current status of our business diversification. Therefore, it is proposed that the Group be renamed as 
“Oriental Enterprise Holdings Limited”, for portraying a better corporate image and a clearer positioning of our business.
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EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and most of the Group’s transactions are denominated in Hong Kong Dollars. The 
Group is exposed to foreign exchange currency risk on transaction that is in a currency other than the respective functional 
currency of the Group entities. The currency giving rise to this risk is primarily Australian Dollars. Currently, the Group does not 
have foreign currency hedging policy, but the management continuously monitors foreign exchange exposure and shall in due 
course arrange relevant hedging in order to minimise significant exposure to foreign currency.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group employed 1,078 (2020: 1,197) employees. Remuneration for employees including medical 
benefits is determined based on industry practice, the performance and working experience of the employees, and the 
prevailing market conditions. The Group has implemented a training scheme to groom a new generation of journalists.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

The COVID-19 outbreak and the recent Australian Government anti-pandemic measures have brought about additional 
uncertainties in the Group’s operating environment and have impacted the Group’s operations and financial position. Since the 
development of the COVID-19 remains uncertain, it is not practicable to estimate the full financial effect that the pandemic may 
have had on the Group’s operations.

On behalf of the Board

Ching-fat MA
Chairman

Hong Kong, 18 June 2021
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The directors of Oriental Press Group Limited (the “Director(s)”) present their report and the audited consolidated financial 
statements of Oriental Press Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Subsidiaries”) (collectively, the “Group”) 
for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Reporting Year”) (the “Consolidated Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company and provides corporate management services. The activities of its 
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 36 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Reporting Year are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income on page 37 of this annual report of the Company for the Reporting Year (the “Annual Report”).

The states of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 March 2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of 
financial position on pages 38 to 39 and the statement of financial position of the Company on page 98 of this Annual Report, 
respectively.

The consolidated statement of cash flows for the Reporting Year is set out on pages 40 to 41 of this Annual Report.

The Company paid an interim dividend of HK2 cents per share of the Company (the “Share”) to the shareholders of the 
Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) during the Reporting Year. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) recommends a final dividend of 
HK2 cents per Share and special dividend of HK5 cents per Share payable to the Shareholders, whose names appear on the 
Register of Members of the Company on 19 August 2021, which is expected to amount to HK$167,854,000 in aggregate.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Reporting Year are set out in Note 14 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the changes in the share capital of the Company during the Reporting Year are set out in Note 28 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the Reporting Year are set out in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 42 of this Annual Report and Note 38 to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves including the proposed dividends of the Company as at 31 March 2021 calculated under part 6 of section 
297 of the Companies Ordinance amounted to HK$393,352,000 (2020: HK$174,326,000).

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 103 of 
this Annual Report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Year, neither the Company nor any of the Subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the 
Company’s listed securities.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as required under Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws 
of Hong Kong), comprising a discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the Reporting Year, a description 
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, are disclosed on pages 3 to 7 under Management Discussion and 
Analysis of this Annual Report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance are disclosed in the “Environmental, Social and 
Governance Report 2021” of the Group.

The Group’s environmental policy is mainly aimed at reducing waste and pollution and optimizing the use of resources. The 
Board considers that effective environmental protection measures not only contribute to environmental protection, but also 
reduce of the production costs. Over the years, the Group has implemented various measures to achieve the set goals.

The emissions, such as chemical wastes, waste water, waste paper and exhaust caused during the operation of the Group, are 
mainly from production plants, staff canteen and vehicles fleet. In respect of reduction of wastes and pollution, chemical wastes 
produced by the plants are collected and treated properly by licensed waste collectors regularly and waste paper are collected 
by qualified contractors. As to the staff canteen, waste water is discharged after grease trap procedures. The Group engages 
qualified contractors to collect grease trap wastes and transport them to landfills designated by the Hong Kong Government 
on a regular basis. In respect of the vehicles fleet, qualified contractors have been retained to collect waste lubricating oil for 
disposal at the sites approved by Hong Kong Government on a regular basis. Furthermore, to reduce exhaust emissions, the 
Group has required the news vehicles to strictly abide by the law of “switching off idling engines”. All shuttle buses of the Group 
have been replaced with vehicles which meet the EU 5 emission standards.
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In order to achieve the goal to optimize the use of resources, the Group uses renewable energy and promotes green office 
measures to raise the environmental protection awareness of the employees, including:

1.	 the Group installed a solar photovoltaic power generation system at the Tai Po headquarters and made good use of solar 
power generation technology to reduce carbon dioxide emissions and contribute to environmental protection;

2.	 adjusting the operation of central air-conditioning in seasons to reduce electricity consumption and installation of energy-
efficient T5 fluorescent tubes or electricity-saving fluorescent tubes on each floor to save energy;

3.	 using automatic water faucets in the washrooms in the plants and offices to control the water consumption effectively;

4.	 facilitating paperless office with more frequent use of electronic forms, electronic photo-picking system and recycled 
papers. Intranet is used for internal communication purpose, so as to reduce paper use and increase administration 
efficiency;

5.	 used printer cartridges are referred to suppliers for recycling;

6.	 the technology department makes extensive use of virtual server architecture to effectively reduce electricity consumption 
and heat emission;

7.	 using non-disposable tableware in staff canteen, and provides half portion of the meals for staff to choose which helps 
reduce wastes and food wastes; and

8.	 during newspaper production, supervisor of the department exercises stringent supervision and control on the efficient 
use of newsprint.

During the Reporting Year, the measures introduced and implemented by the Group for pollution reduction and efficient use of 
resources achieved the expected results. Management will from time to time review the effectiveness of such measures and 
monitor the implementation of the relevant environmental protection measures by each department.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

On the business and operation levels, in addition to the information gathered by the News Department, the Group obtains news 
all over the world through major overseas news agencies. Before using any other information or photo, the Group identifies the 
copyright owner and ascertains the ownership of the relevant copyrighted work and obtains consent from the copyright owner. 
The Group also pays to purchase the copyright owner’s works for publication purpose when necessary in order to protect their 
intellectual property rights. Besides, if any advertisement placed by the advertiser, contents of which may have involved legal 
matters, such advertisement shall be pre-vetted by the legal team before acceptance of publication.

As to protection of the personal data collected by the Group during its operation, the Group keeps reminding the employees of 
and emphasising the importance of safeguarding the security of personal data (privacy). When collecting and processing such 
data, the Group strictly complies with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (the “Privacy Ordinance”) and the guidelines issued 
by the Office of the Privacy Commissioner for Personal Data, Hong Kong, with a view to protecting the privacy. The Group also 
has measures designated to prevent the unauthorized access to personal data.
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In relation to the human resources, the Group is committed to comply with the requirements of the applicable laws and 
regulations, such as the Privacy Ordinance, ordinances against disability, sex, family status and races discriminations, the 
Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage Ordinance and the ordinances applicable to occupational safety of employees of 
the plants, in respect of recruitment or daily works of the employees so as to safeguard the benefits and interests of the Group’s 
employees. The Group also values good conduct of the employees and has set out clear guidelines in the Prevention of Bribery 
Policy to prevent bribery and to regulate the acceptance of benefits by the employees. The Group also, at appropriate time, 
issues internal notices to remind the employees to avoid involving in bribery and conduct of improper acceptance of benefits.

On the corporate level, the Group continuously complies with the requirements under the Rules Governing the Listing of 
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the Securities 
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”), such as disclosure of information, corporate governance and Model Code for Securities 
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”). The Inside Information Committee of the Board is delegated 
to deal with the handling and disclosure of the “Inside Information” under the SFO.

During the Reporting Year, there was no material and significant breach of or non-compliance with the relevant laws and 
regulations by the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands that outstanding employees are valuable assets that help the Group grab every opportunity that arises. 
With a view to retaining talents, the Group will train and give incentives to its employees based on their performance and 
productivity and has implemented a training scheme to groom a new generation of journalists and to provide employees with 
work-related training and systematic training courses under appropriate guidance given by senior employees. The Group has 
also provided the employees of the administrative departments with relevant courses and seminars to enable them to grasp 
the work-related knowledge, skills and attitude in order to keep abreast of the latest trend. The Group values the opinions 
of employees and provides various communication channels to collect their opinions on company policies, administrative 
measures or benefits, which enable the Group to keep constant improvement.

The Group holds staff meal gatherings to have fun with employees from time to time and gives present to employees at festivals, 
to thank employees for their hard work and contribution. In addition, the Group also gives present to employees who perform 
particularly well and work hard.

For the Reporting Year, the employee voluntary turnover rate of the Group was approximately 10.1%.

The key customers of the Group include the advertisers and the advertising agents (the “Advertisers”) and readers of the 
Group’s newspaper and websites (the “Readers”). Quality contents and wide readership of the Group’s newspaper and 
websites provide effective promotional and marketing platforms to the Advertisers. Most of the Advertisers have established 
long term business relationship with the Group which ensures steady advertising income of the Group. During the Reporting 
Year, there was no material and significant dispute between the Group and the Advertisers. As to the Readers, the Group offers 
telephone hotline and email address to enable the Readers to express their views on the quality of the newspaper and the news 
contents and the Group will deal with their views on individual cases basis.

The key suppliers of the Group are the producers or suppliers of newsprint and printing materials (the “Suppliers”). The Group 
has established long term, good and firm business relationship with the Suppliers which does help to ensure steady supply and 
the quality stability of the printing materials. During the Reporting Year, there was no material and significant dispute between 
the Group and the Suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors in office during the Reporting Year and up to the date of this Directors’ Report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ching-fat MA, BBS, Chairman
Mr. Ching-choi MA, Vice Chairman
Mr. Shun-chuen LAM, Chief Executive Officer

Non-executive Director

Mr. Dominic LAI

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yau-nam CHAM
Mr. Ping-wing PAO, JP

Mr. Yat-fai LAM

In accordance with Article 103 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Ching-choi MA, Mr. Ping-wing PAO and Mr. Yat-
fai LAM shall retire by rotation and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting 
(the “AGM”) of the Company.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Directors are in the opinion that due to the numerous number of directors of the Subsidiaries and that of the Subsidiaries, 
disclosure of the names of all the directors of the Subsidiaries and all the Subsidiaries in this Directors’ Report would be of 
excessive length. Therefore, the information on the directors’ names of the Subsidiaries and the Subsidiaries are available at 
https://opg.on.cc/en/subsidiaries2021.pdf.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the 
Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange during the Reporting Year. The Company has adopted most of the recommended best 
practices stated therein.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in compliance with Rules 3.21 of the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange. It has 
reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and this Annual Report. The Audit Committee 
comprises two independent non-executive Directors and one non-executive Director.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors has any interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete with the business of the Group 
during the Reporting Year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Year, the Company did not have any connected transactions which were subject to the requirements of 
the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange. Other transactions which were exempt from the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange 
requirements are disclosed in Note 29 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company was entered into or existed during the Reporting Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

The interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and 
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were 
required: (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO; or 
(b) to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO; or (c) to be notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as at 31 March 2021 were as follows:

Interests in the Company

Name of Director Capacity

Number of 
ordinary Shares 
(Long Position) Notes

Approximate
percentage of
 shareholding

Ching-fat MA Founder of a discretionary trust 1,552,651,284 (i) 64.75%

Interest of controlled corporation 149,870,000 (ii) 6.25%

Ching-choi MA Interest of controlled corporation 95,916,000 (iii) 4.00%

Notes:

(i)	 Mr. Ching-fat MA is the founder of the Ocean Trust, and Conyers Trustee Services (BVI) Limited, as the trustee of the Ocean Trust, 
indirectly holds 57.3% interest in Magicway Investment Limited and the entire issued share capital of Ever Holdings Limited. Magicway 
Investment Limited and Ever Holdings Limited in turn hold 1,222,941,284 Shares and 329,710,000 Shares respectively. Mr. Ching-fat 
MA, as the founder of the Ocean Trust, is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares comprised in the trust assets of the 
Ocean Trust under the SFO.

(ii)	 Mr. Ching-fat MA holds the entire issued share capital of Perfect Deal Trading Limited, which in turn holds 149,870,000 Shares. Mr. 
Ching-fat MA is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares held by Perfect Deal Trading Limited under the SFO.

(iii)	 Mr. Ching-choi MA holds the entire issued share capital of Prosper Time Trading Limited, which in turn holds 95,916,000 Shares. Mr. 
Ching-choi MA is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares held by Prosper Time Trading Limited under the SFO.

(iv)	 The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the Company’s total number of issued Shares as at 31 March 2021 (i.e. 
2,397,917,898 Shares).
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Interests in associated corporation

Name of Director Name of associated corporation Capacity

Number of
ordinary Shares 
(Long Position)

Approximate
 percentage of 

shareholding

Ching-fat MA Magicway Investment Limited Beneficial owner 260 26.00%

Ching-choi MA Magicway Investment Limited Beneficial owner 167 16.70%

Other than the holdings disclosed above, no interests or short positions were held or deemed or taken to be held under Part XV 
of the SFO by any Director or chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or 
any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 7 or 8 of Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code or which are required pursuant 
to section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein as at 31 March 2021.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed in Notes 29 and 39 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, there were no contracts of significance 
to which the Company or any of the Subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly 
or indirectly, subsisting at the end of the Reporting Year or at any time during the Reporting Year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of the Subsidiaries not terminable by the employing 
company within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, each Director is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company 
against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in 
relation thereto.

The Company has maintained directors’ liability insurance which is in force throughout the Reporting Year and up to the date 
of this Annual Report to provide appropriate insurance cover for the Directors.

DISCLOSABLE INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE SFO

So far as was known to the Directors and chief executive of the Company, the interests and short positions of any persons 
(other than a Director or chief executive of the Company) in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which were 
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO as at 31 March 2021 were as 
follows:
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Interests in the Company

Name Capacity

Number of 
ordinary Shares
(Long Position) Notes

Approximate
 percentage of
 shareholding

Conyers Trustee Services  
(BVI) Limited

Trustee 1,552,651,284 (i) 64.75%

Ocean Greatness Limited Interest of controlled corporations 1,552,651,284 (ii) 64.75%

Marsun Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporations 1,552,651,284 (iii) 64.75%

Magicway Investment Limited Beneficial owner 1,222,941,284 51.00%

Ever Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 329,710,000 13.75%

Perfect Deal Trading Limited Beneficial owner 149,870,000 6.25%

Mui-fong HUNG Interest of spouse 1,702,521,284 (iv) 71.00%

Notes:

(i)	 Conyers Trustee Services (BVI) Limited, as the trustee of the Ocean Trust, holds 100% interest in Ocean Greatness Limited which in turn 
holds 100% interest in Marsun Holdings Limited. Marsun Holdings Limited holds 57.3% interest in Magicway Investment Limited and the 
entire issued share capital of Ever Holdings Limited. Magicway Investment Limited and Ever Holdings Limited in turn hold 1,222,941,284 
Shares and 329,710,000 Shares respectively. Conyers Trustee Services (BVI) Limited, as the trustee of the Ocean Trust, is deemed to 
be interested in the same parcel of Shares held by Magicway Investment Limited and Ever Holdings Limited and comprised in the trust 
assets of the Ocean Trust under the SFO.

(ii)	 Ocean Greatness Limited holds 100% interest in Marsun Holdings Limited which in turn holds 57.3% interest in Magicway Investment 
Limited and the entire issued share capital of Ever Holdings Limited. Ocean Greatness Limited is, by virtue of its interest in Marsun 
Holdings Limited, deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares in which Magicway Investment Limited and Ever Holdings 
Limited are interested.

(iii)	 Marsun Holdings Limited holds 57.3% interest in Magicway Investment Limited and the entire issued share capital of Ever Holdings 
Limited and is, by virtue of its interest in Magicway Investment Limited and Ever Holdings Limited, deemed to be interested in the same 
parcel of Shares in which Magicway Investment Limited and Ever Holdings Limited are interested.

(iv)	 Ms. Mui-fong HUNG, as the spouse of Mr. Ching-fat MA, is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares comprised in the trust 
assets of the Ocean Trust under the SFO as Mr. Ching-fat MA is the founder of the Ocean Trust. Further, Ms. Mui-fong HUNG, as the 
spouse of Mr. Ching-fat MA, is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of Shares held by Perfect Deal Trading Limited under the 
SFO as Mr. Ching-fat MA holds the entire issued share capital of Perfect Deal Trading Limited.

(v)	 The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the Company’s total number of issued Shares as at 31 March 2021 (i.e. 
2,397,917,898 Shares).

Save as disclosed above, no other party had any interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in 
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO as at 31 March 2021.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are shown in Note 32 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this Directors’ Report, based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the 
knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company has maintained the public float as required under the 
Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Reporting Year, the five largest customers of the Group accounted for approximately 60% of the Group’s turnover and 
the percentage of turnover attributable to the Group’s largest customer amounted to approximately 29%.

The percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers is approximately 65% of the Group’s total 
purchases for the Reporting Year and the percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier amounted to 
approximately 18%.

None of the Directors, their associates or any Shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Board owns more than 5% of the 
Company’s issued Shares) has an interest in the share capital of any of those customers or suppliers.

AUDITOR

The Consolidated Financial Statements for the Reporting Year have been audited by HLM CPA Limited who has been the 
Group’s auditor since 2011 and will retire and seek for re-election at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Ching-fat MA
Chairman

18 June 2021
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ching-fat MA, BBS, aged 61, was appointed as an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board on 17 May 2005. 
Mr. MA is also the chairman of the Executive Committee and Corporate Social Responsibility Committee of the Board. Mr. MA 
joined the Group in 1985 and was appointed as an executive Director for the period from 11 December 1991 to 4 October 
1999. During the period from 20 November 2004 to 17 May 2005, Mr. MA was the President of the Company. Mr. MA 
graduated from the Department of Journalism, Chu Hai College. Mr. MA is elder brother of Mr. Ching-choi MA and nephew of 
Mr. Shun-chuen LAM. He is also a director of Magicway Investment Limited and Perfect Deal Trading Limited, all of which have 
an interest in the Shares which is required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV 
of the SFO.

Mr. Ching-choi MA, aged 59, was appointed as an executive Director and the Vice Chairman of the Board on 28 September 
2005. He assists mainly the Chairman in discharge of his duties. Mr. MA is also a member of the Executive Committee of the 
Board and the chairman of the Investment Committee of the Board. Mr. MA joined the Group in 1986 and was appointed as 
an executive Director for the period from 20 February 1995 to 4 October 1999. During the period from 31 August 2002 to 
28 September 2005, Mr. MA was a Senior Vice President of the Company. Mr. MA was educated at Dominican College of 
California, U.S.A., majoring in business administration. Mr. MA is younger brother of Mr. Ching-fat MA and nephew of Mr. Shun-
chuen LAM. He is also a director of Magicway Investment Limited and Perfect Deal Trading Limited, all of which have an interest 
in the Shares which is required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Shun-chuen LAM, aged 72, has been an executive Director since October 1999 and is currently the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company, responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group’s business. Mr. LAM is also a member 
of the Executive Committee, Nomination Committee and Investment Committee of the Board. He is also a director of most 
of the subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. LAM joined the Group in 1972 and was in charge of the distribution of the Group’s 
publications. Mr. LAM is uncle of Mr. Ching-fat MA and Mr. Ching-choi MA.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Dominic LAI, aged 74, has been a Director since August 1998 and is currently a non-executive Director and a member 
of the Audit Committee of the Board. He is also a non-executive director of NWS Holdings Limited and Chuang’s China 
Investments Limited, both of which are public companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. LAI is a senior partner of a Hong 
Kong law firm, Iu, Lai & Li, the legal advisers to the Group. He is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and has also been admitted 
as a solicitor in England, Republic of Singapore, and the States of New South Wales and Victoria, Australia.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yau-nam CHAM, aged 74, has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director since March 2006 and 
is currently a member of the Corporate Social Responsibility Committee of the Board. Mr. CHAM has over 20 years of 
experience in the securities industry. He obtained his Bachelor degree in Science from St. Mary’s University, Bachelor degree 
in Engineering (Electrical) from Nova Scotia Technical College and Master degree in Business Administration from University 
of British Columbia, in Canada. Mr. CHAM is a non-executive director and the chairman of the audit committee of Deswell 
Industries, Inc., a public company listed on NASDAQ in U.S.A.

Mr. Ping-wing PAO, JP, aged 73, has been a Director since July 1987 and is currently an independent non-executive Director, 
a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Social Responsibility 
Committee of the Board. He is also an independent non-executive director of Zhuzhou CRRC Times Electric Co., Ltd., Capital 
Environment Holdings Limited, Maoye International Holdings Limited, Soundwill Holdings Limited and Sing Lee Software 
(Group) Limited, all of which are public companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. PAO was elected as one of the Ten 
Outstanding Young Persons of Hong Kong in 1982 and one of the Ten Outstanding Young Persons of the World in 1983. 
He was also an ex-Urban Councillor. In the past years, he has been actively serving on government policy committees and 
statutory bodies, especially those of town planning, urban renewal, public housing, culture and arts and environment matters. 
Mr. PAO holds a Master of Science degree in human settlements planning & development.

Mr. Yat-fai LAM, aged 55, has been an independent non-executive Director since September 2004. He is the chairman of 
the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and a member of the Investment Committee of the 
Board. Mr. LAM is also an independent non-executive director of Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited, a public company listed on 
the Stock Exchange. Mr. LAM is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising). He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants and of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He worked with Kwan Wong Tan 
& Fong and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for over 10 years and has accumulated rich experience in auditing, taxation, corporate 
finance and accounting over the years.

The executive Directors are also senior management members of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Oriental Press Group Limited (the “Company”) is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate governance practices to 
safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) and enhance the performance of the Company 
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”). The Company has adopted and applied a corporate governance policy.

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) 
throughout the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Reporting Year”). The Company has adopted most of the recommended best 
practices stated therein.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The board of Directors (the “Director(s)”) of the Company (the “Board”) is responsible for the leadership and control of the 
Company and oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions and financial performances. The Board delegates to the 
management team the day-to-day operations of the Group’s business, including the preparation of annual and interim reports, 
and for implementation of risk management, internal control, business strategies and plans developed by the Board.

The Board comprises three executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors. 
More than one-third of the Board members are independent non-executive Directors and two of them have appropriate 
accounting or related financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The Board believes 
that the combination of the number of executive Directors and non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide 
sufficient checks and balances that safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the Group.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual confirmation of his independence in accordance with 
the guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has received such confirmations from all independent 
non-executive Directors and also considers that all independent non-executive Directors are independent parties since they 
do not get involved in the daily management of the Company nor have any connection or factor which would impair their 
independence. Each non-executive Director entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years, 
subject to retirement by rotation once at least every three years in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association at the 
Company’s annual general meeting (the “AGM”). As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to 
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance is no less exacting than the standard set out in the Code. According to A.4.3 
of the Code, further appointment of an independent non-executive director who serves more than nine years should be subject 
to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders. Mr. Ping-wing PAO and Mr Yat-fai LAM, who are independent non-
executive Directors and have served the Board for more than nine years, will retire by rotation and offer themself for re-election 
at the Company’s forthcoming AGM in 2021. The re-election of Mr. Ping-wing PAO and Mr Yat-fai LAM as independent non-
executive Directors will be considered by a vote on separate resolutions at the Company’s forthcoming AGM.

To the best knowledge of the Company, except for: (i) the relationship between the Directors as disclosed in the “Biographical 
Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this Annual Report; and (ii) interests as set out in the sections headed 
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions” and “Disclosable Interests and Short Positions of Shareholders 
under the SFO”, respectively, in the “Directors’ Report” of this Annual Report, there is no other financial, business, family or 
other material/relevant relationship between the Board members.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) is Mr. Ching-fat MA while the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of the Company is 
Mr. Shun-chuen LAM. There is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the CEO, in that the Chairman 
bears primary responsibilities for the functioning of the Board, by ensuring its effective operation, and ensuring good corporate 
governance practices and procedures being in place and maintained, while the CEO bears executive responsibility for the 
management of the day-to-day operations of the Group. Mr. Ching-fat MA is the nephew of Mr. Shun-chuen LAM.

FUNCTIONS OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

During the Reporting Year, the Board is responsible for performing the duties as set out in D.3.1 of the Code including:

1.	 reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance;

2.	 reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional development of the Directors and the senior 
management;

3.	 reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4.	 reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct applicable to the employees and the Directors; and

5.	 reviewing the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD MEETINGS

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year by the Company at approximately quarterly intervals. The company 
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) assists the Chairman in preparing agenda for the Board meeting. Notice 
of convening the meeting shall be issued at least fourteen days in advance of the meeting. The Chairman ensures that agenda 
for the meeting together with the relevant documents are complete and clear and shall be dispatched to the Directors no less 
than three days prior to the meeting for their review. All Directors were given opportunity to include matters in the agenda 
that they would like to discuss at the meeting. The Chairman also ensures that the Board meetings are conducted effectively 
and that the resolutions are properly negotiated. The Company Secretary shall record matters considered by the Board and 
maintains the minutes of meetings. Draft minutes of the Board meetings will be circulated to the Directors for their comment 
within reasonable time after the Board meeting is held and copy of final version of the minutes will also be sent to all Directors 
for information and record. The Board committees will also adopt and follow the foregoing procedures for the Board committee 
meetings.

Apart from the regular Board meetings, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s performance, 
situation and prospects.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established six committees, namely the Executive Committee, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, 
Nomination Committee, Investment Committee and Corporate Social Responsibility Committee. The Board committees 
established by the Board have clearly-defined written terms of reference. The independent views and recommendations of 
these committees ensure proper control of the Company and the continuous achievement of the high standard corporate 
governance. Each committee is authorised by the Board to investigate any activity and seek any information it requires within 
its terms of reference. It is also authorised to obtain external legal or other independent professional advice and to secure the 
attendance of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if necessary.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee comprises three executive Directors, Mr. Ching-fat MA, Mr. Ching-choi MA and Mr. Shun-chuen 
LAM. Mr. Ching-fat MA is the chairman of the Executive Committee.

The principal duties of the Executive Committee are to manage and develop generally the business of the Company and to 
review the corporate governance policies and make recommendations to the Board.

Audit Committee and Accountability

The Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Yat-fai LAM and Mr. Ping-wing PAO, and one 
non-executive Director, Mr. Dominic LAI. Mr. Yat-fai LAM is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee were formulated in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and 
have been published on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). 
The principal duties of the Audit Committee are to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements, reports, 
accounts and financial controls; review the risk management and internal controls system; and monitor the audit procedures 
of the external auditor. During the Reporting Year, the Audit Committee discharged its principal duties. The Audit Committee 
also reviewed the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020, unaudited interim 
consolidated financial statements for the six months ended 30 September 2020, the risk management report and the internal 
control reports.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the financial statements for each financial period which 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flow 
for that period. The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group with the 
management. The Directors confirm that the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Reporting Year were prepared in 
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also confirm that to the best 
of their knowledge and information, having made all reasonable enquiries, they were not aware of any material uncertainties 
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The 
statement of the independent auditor of the Group on its consolidated financial statement reporting responsibilities is set out in 
the independent auditor’s report on pages 29 to 36 of this annual report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Yat-fai LAM and Mr. Ping-wing PAO. 
Mr. Yat-fai LAM is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to the Board based on the Company’s 
policy and structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior management; reviewing and approving the management’s 
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives; and making recommendations to the 
Board on the remuneration of Directors. During the Reporting Year, the Remuneration Committee discharged its principal 
duties. The Remuneration Committee also reviewed the remuneration policies of the Directors and made the recommendations 
to the Board. The Directors’ remuneration is determined with reference to their performance, duties with the Company, the 
Company’s prevailing standards for emoluments and the market conditions.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, Mr. Shun-chuen LAM and two independent non-executive 
Directors, Mr. Yat-fai LAM and Mr. Ping-wing PAO. Mr. Yat-fai LAM is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board; assessing 
the independence of the independent non-executive Directors; monitoring the implementation of the Nomination Policy and 
Board Diversity Policy and reviewing these two Policies to ensure their effectiveness; and seeking suitable candidate for being 
a Director and making recommendation to the Board accordingly. During the Reporting Year, the Nomination Committee 
discharged its principal duties.

Nomination Policy

The Board has established a nomination policy, a summary of which is as follows:

1.	 Stipulate the duties of the Nomination Committee, including nominating suitable director candidates for the Board;

2.	 Determine the selection criteria and procedures for the appointment and re-appointment of directors;

3.	 Skills, opinions, experience, independence and gender are the factors that need to be considered when appointing 
directors;

4.	 Commit to achieve a diversified composition of the Board and employees in respect of gender, age, cultural and 
educational background and assess the diversity status of the Board every year;

5.	 Create a succession plan of directors;

6.	 Hold Nomination Committee meetings from time to time, continuously monitor the Nomination Policies to ensure their 
effectiveness and compare them with other listed companies in the industry in a time manner; and

7.	 Provide trainings to new directors.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has established the Board Diversity Policy to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the Company, a 
summary of which is as follows:

1.	 Set out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board of the Company;

2.	 In determining the composition of the Board, the Company considers the diversity of the Board from a number of 
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, 
skills, knowledge and service tenure. All Board appointments are based on meritocracy;

3.	 Disclose the composition of the Board regularly; and

4.	 Set up measurable goals and establish the skill matrix of the Board and report the progress toward meeting the standards 
regularly.

Final decisions of appointing directors to be made by the Board will be based on each candidate’s attributes and contributions 
to be made to the Board. The Nomination Committee monitors the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, reviews 
the Board Diversity Policy as and when appropriate and recommends any revisions for the Board’s approval to ensure its 
effectiveness. The Nomination Committee considers that the existing structure, size and composition of the Board of the Group 
can effectively lead and supervise its operation, and expects to appoint at least one female member in the coming year.

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee comprises two executive Directors, Mr. Ching-choi MA and Mr. Shun-chuen LAM and one 
independent non-executive Director, Mr. Yat-fai LAM. Mr. Ching-choi MA is the chairman of the Investment Committee.

The principal duties of the Investment Committee are to enhance the Company’s risk management, to provide market 
information, and to give advice and make recommendations to the Board regarding the Company’s proposed investments on 
non-core business of the Group.

Corporate Social Responsibility Committee

The Corporate Social Responsibility Committee (the “CSR Committee”) comprises one executive Director, Mr. Ching-fat MA 
and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Yau-nam CHAM and Mr. Ping-wing PAO. Mr. Ching-fat MA is the chairman 
of the CSR Committee.

The CSR Committee is mainly responsible for developing and reviewing the strategies and policies of the corporate social 
responsibilities of the Company and monitoring the Company’s environmental and social governance in compliance with the 
legal and regulatory requirements. The CSR Committee is also responsible for preparing the annual Environmental, Social and 
Governance Report to be submitted to the Board for revision.
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THE ATTENDANCE OF THE BOARD MEETINGS, THE BOARD COMMITTEES’ MEETINGS AND THE 
AGM

Name of Directors
Board 

Meetings

Audit 
Committee 

Meetings

Remuneration
 Committee 

Meetings

Nomination 
Committee

 Meetings AGM

Meetings attended/held

*	 Mr. Ching-fat MA, BBS 4/4 – – – 1/1
*	 Mr. Ching-choi MA 4/4 – – – 1/1
*	 Mr. Shun-chuen LAM 4/4 – – 1/1 1/1
^	 Mr. Dominic LAI 4/4 2/2 – – 1/1
#	 Mr. Yau-nam CHAM 4/4 – – – 1/1
#	 Mr. Ping-wing PAO, JP 4/4 2/2 3/3 1/1 1/1
#	 Mr. Yat-fai LAM 4/4 2/2 3/3 1/1 1/1

*	 Executive Director
^	 Non-executive Director
#	 Independent Non-executive Director

During the Reporting Year, the Board convened four meetings and conducted, inter alia, the following:

1.	 approving the interim and annual reports, and matters necessary to be considered at the AGM;

2.	 reviewing the overall performance and financial position of the Group; and

3.	 reviewing the issues discussed and concerned by the board committees.

In addition to the Board meetings, the Chairman also held one meeting with independent non-executive Directors without the 
presence of executive Directors during the Reporting Year.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT MEMBERS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments for the year are set out in Note 39(a) to the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 
100 and 101 of this Annual Report. Pursuant to B.1.5 of the Code, for the Reporting Year, the remuneration range of the senior 
management members of the Company, who are the executive Directors, is set out below:

Remuneration range (HK$’000) Number of persons

2,500 to 3,000 1
15,000 to 20,000 2
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development (“CPD”) training to refresh their knowledge 
and skills. The Company also provides the Directors with updates on latest development in and amendment to the Listing 
Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time. During the Reporting Year, the Company also 
arranged two CPD training courses conducted by the qualified professionals and provided reading materials to the Directors 
for internal training. Topics of the CPD training courses comprised financial management, corporate governance, and updates 
on the Listing Rules amendments and other Ordinance amendments. The Directors are required to provide the Company with 
the details of the CPD training undertaken by them. Based on the details provided by the Directors, the Directors, including 
Mr. Ching-fat MA, Mr. Ching-choi MA, Mr. Shun-chuen LAM, Mr. Dominic LAI, Mr. Yau-nam CHAM, Mr. Ping-wing PAO and 
Mr. Yat-fai LAM, have complied with A.6.5 of the Code in relation to the CPD requirements during the Reporting Year. All 
Board members attended all board meetings and committee meetings, and made effective and valuable contributions to the 
Company’s development strategies and policies during the Reporting Year. Therefore, it is believed that all Board members 
have devoted sufficient time and attention to the Company’s business. The Company received confirmations from the Directors 
and confirmed that they provided sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company during the Reporting Year.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Directors understand that the Board has the responsibility to ensure that the risk management and internal control systems 
of the Group continue to be effective, and believes that the risk management and internal control are fundamental to the 
Group as they can facilitate the practice of the corporate strategy and enhance competitiveness. Accordingly, the Group has 
developed its own risk management and internal control systems and policies based on the specific nature and the practical 
needs of the Group’s business. The Board is responsible for maintaining the Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems and to review their effectiveness on a regular basis.

Notwithstanding the above, the risk management and internal control are designed to manage rather than eliminate the 
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

Risk Management

The Group has established a comprehensive set of risk management policies and systems to enable the Board to effectively 
and efficiently identify, assess, analyze and mitigate risks that may arise when the Group strives to achieve strategic objectives, 
operational objectives, financial reporting and compliance objectives.

The Group has integrated risk management into its business processes, in which supervisors from all departments of the 
Group shall report to the management of risks within their respective operating ranges (including potential risks), likelihood of 
occurrence and the impact of such risks, and recommendation of risk mitigation strategies. After discussions with supervisors 
from relevant departments, the management will assess, analyze and make recommendations of the risk management 
procedures and mitigation measures to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee will discuss with the management and 
make an approval based on the type and level of acceptable risk of the Group determined by the Board, and the approved 
results will then be submitted by the management to the Board for review. Subsequently, the management and supervisors 
from all departments shall continue to monitor the effectiveness of risk management procedures and risk mitigation measures, 
and the Board will receive relevant periodic reports from the management.

In relation to the handling and disclosure of “Inside Information” under the Securities and Futures Ordinance, the Group has 
established the Inside Information Disclosure Policy to provide guidance for reporting and disclosure of inside information.
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Under such policy, Directors or executive officers shall report any potential inside information to the Inside Information 
Committee of the Board as soon as possible, so that the Inside Information Committee can determine whether the matter or its 
development is inside information and make disclosure whenever necessary.

Internal Control

The Group has established an organisational structure and a comprehensive reporting system to specify the relevant operating 
policies and procedures, duties and authorities.

The Board delegates the Audit Committee to review and monitor the implementation of the internal control system of the Group 
to ensure the effective operation of the system. The internal control system helps the Group attain its business objectives, 
protect the assets from unauthorised uses or disposals, and ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records. It can also 
provide reliable financial information for internal uses or external dissemination while ensuring the compliance with relevant 
ordinances and regulations.

The management is delegated by the Board to enforce the established corporate strategies, policies and contracts and 
deal with the related issues. The management holds meetings regularly to review the day-to-day operating performance 
and formulates operating objectives and strategies. Supervisors from all departments shall report the working progress, 
relay the feedback and discuss the current policies. They shall also enhance the communication and coordination with other 
departments and improve the quality of their work to attain the business objectives. Operating budgets shall be prepared by the 
relevant departments and shall be implemented subject to the review by the management. The Group has procedures in place 
to assess, review and approve the major capital and recurring expenses, and to analyse the discrepancy between the operating 
results and the budgets and report to the Board on a regular basis.

Internal Audit

The Group has established an internal control group to perform internal audit and carry out other duties related to review or 
investigation in nature. The internal control group also reviews the internal control measures of the Group, and assesses the 
sufficiency and effectiveness of the measures and makes recommendations to the management. The scope of audit primarily 
covers financial control, operating control, compliance of regulations and risk management. The internal control group operates 
independently and has access to the information necessary to discharge its duties.

The audit duties include:

1.	 carrying out regular on-site review and examination of all departments to ensure the proper implementation and 
preservation of the established policies, operating procedures and maintenance of records of the Group, the adequate 
protection of assets and the appropriate utilisation of resources;

2.	 reviewing the specific concerns or risks suggested by the Audit Committee or the management; and

3.	 establishing the relevant procedures for the purpose of mitigating the risk of failure to attain business objectives.

The internal control group reports the findings and recommendations to the management on a regular basis. The reports 
together with the feedback of the management shall be submitted to the Audit Committee for further discussion and approval 
before it is submitted to the Board for review.
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Annual Review

The Board monitors the risk management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis, ensuring reviews on the 
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems are conducted twice every year.

During the Reporting Year, the Board and the Audit Committee conducted annual reviews on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
risk management and internal control systems, which included the reviews on the report covering the control of all aspects 
provided by the management and internal control group. According to the outcome of the reviews, the Group has complied 
with the provisions in relation to the risk management and internal control as set out in the Code and no unusual circumstances 
or additional risks have been discovered during the Reporting Year. The Group was also of the view that the risk management 
and internal control systems were effective and sufficient and there was no material deficiency that may affect the Shareholders, 
which has come to the attention of the Board or the Audit Committee.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set 
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s Model Code for Directors’ securities transactions.

Following specific enquiries by the Company, all Directors have confirmed in writing their compliance with the required 
standards set out in the Model Code for the Reporting Year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Biana Ling-yee SEE, Vice President of the Company, is responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance 
matters and ensuring that the Board complies with applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Company engaged Ms. Cheuk-
ting CHU from Tricor Services Limited as the Company Secretary to assist Ms. Biana Ling-yee SEE in performing the duties 
of Company Secretary. Ms. Cheuk-ting CHU confirms that during the Reporting Year, she has taken no less than 15 hours of 
relevant professional training in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the Reporting Year, the external auditor of the Company received approximately HK$1,251,000, being the audit fees in full 
in relation to the audit services rendered and approximately HK$136,000 being the fees for non-audit services rendered.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

There was no change in the Company’s Articles of Association during the Reporting Year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders are encouraged to attend all general meetings of the Company. Shareholders holding not less than 5% of the 
total voting rights of all Shareholders have rights to call for a general meeting and put forward agenda items for consideration 
by Shareholders. Shareholders may make such a request together with the proposed agenda items by written or electronic 
format and send to the Company Secretary. If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the 
requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting for a day not more than twenty-eight days after the date on which the notice 
convening the meeting is given, the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of 
all of them, may by themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three 
months from the said date.

In addition, Shareholders representing not less than 2.5% of the total voting rights of all Shareholders or of at least fifty 
Shareholders, may put forward proposals for consideration at the AGM. However, all proposals should be submitted by written 
or electronic format and send to the Company Secretary at least six weeks before the AGM or the time at which notice is given 
of that AGM in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution or one week before the AGM in the case of any other 
requisition. The Company shall send a copy of such notice of resolution or the statement in respect of any other requisition to 
the Shareholders at the Company’s expenses. If, however, after a copy of the requisition requiring notice of a resolution has 
been deposited at the registered office of the Company, the AGM is called for a date six weeks or less after the copy has been 
deposited, the copy though not deposited within the time required as referred to above shall be deemed to have been properly 
deposited for the purposes thereof.

Enquiries may be put to the Board through the Company Secretary by post at Oriental Press Centre, 23 Dai Cheong Street, Tai 
Po Industrial Estate, Hong Kong or by email to finance@on.cc.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has developed a Shareholders’ communication policy. The policy aims to promote effective communication 
with Shareholders and other stakeholders and is reviewed on a regular basis. AGMs are the Company’s primary channel for 
communication with Shareholders. The chairman of the AGMs proposes separate resolutions for each issue to be considered. 
During the Reporting Year, the chairmen of the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee 
and external auditor attended the AGM to answer Shareholders’ questions and to gain balanced views of the Shareholders. 
The notice of AGMs and related information will be given to Shareholders at least twenty business days before the meeting. The 
chairman of the AGMs exercises his power under the Company’s Articles of Association to put each proposed resolution to 
the vote by way of conducting a poll. The rules and procedures of the vote will be clearly explained before it commences at the 
meeting, and the results will be announced on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on the same 
day.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Group has established a dividend policy in the interest of shareholders. In considering the dividend payout, the Board will 
make decisions with reference to the Group’s performance and financial position, capital flow, capital requirements and future 
commitments, as well as past dividend payout ratios.
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Room 1501–08, 15th Floor, Tai Yau Building,
181 Johnston Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
香港灣仔莊士敦道181號
大有大廈15樓1501–08室

To the members of Oriental Press Group Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Oriental Press Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 37 to 102, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 March 2021, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group 
as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters.

Key Audit Matter: Revenue recognition

Refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter due to the significance of the amount of revenue to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and with the adoption of HKFRS 15, significant judgements and 
estimates made by the management are required for the revenue recognition. Revenue from the publication of newspapers 
and advertising income, and the internet subscription and advertising income amounted to HK$652,166,000 (2020: 
HK$776,982,000), representing 93% (2020: 94%) of the Group’s total turnover.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter: Revenue recognition (Continued)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our procedures in relation to the revenue recognition included:

•	 understanding the revenue and business process of the Group;
•	 assessing the appropriateness of the Group’s revenue recognition accounting policy in line with HKFRSs;
•	 evaluating and testing the operating effectiveness of key controls on the recognition of revenue; and
•	 selecting a sample of sales or advertising transactions recorded during the reporting period near the year end and just 

after the end of the reporting period and comparing the details, including the date of the underlying sales invoices, sales 
or advertising contracts and relevant documentation evidencing the date of delivery and acceptance of the goods or 
services to assess whether the related revenue has been recognised in the appropriate accounting period in accordance 
with the Group’s revenue recognition accounting policies.

We found that the Group has appropriately recognised revenue in accordance with its accounting policy for recognition of 
revenue and the amount and the timing of the revenue recorded were supported by the available evidence.

Key Audit Matter: Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Refer to Notes 20 and 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

We focused on this area due to the allowance for expected credit losses assessment of trade receivables under the expected 
credit losses (“ECL”) model involved the use of significant management judgements and estimates.

The Group had trade receivables of approximately HK$76,564,000 (2020: HK$77,632,000) and loss allowance for ECL of 
approximately HK$6,117,000 (2020: HK$3,700,000). Management performed periodic assessment on the recoverability of 
the trade receivables and the sufficiency of loss allowance for ECL based on information including credit profile of different 
customers, aging of the trade receivables, historical settlement records, subsequent settlement status, expected timing and 
amount of realisation of outstanding balances, and ongoing business relationships with the relevant customers. Management 
also considered forward–looking information that may impact the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding balances in order 
to estimate the ECL for the allowance for ECL assessment.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment of the trade receivables as at 31 March 2021 included:

•	 obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design and implementation of management’s key internal controls 
relating to credit control, debt collection and estimation of ECL;

•	 checking, on a sample basis, the age profile of the trade receivables as at 31 March 2021 to the underlying financial 
records and post year–end settlements to bank receipts;

•	 inquiring of management for the status of each of the material trade receivables past due as at year end and corroborating 
explanations from management with supporting evidence, such as understanding on–going business relationship 
with the customers based on trade records, checking historical and subsequent settlement records of and other 
correspondence with the customers; and

•	 assessing the appropriateness of the ECL provisioning methodology, examining the key data inputs on a sample basis to 
assess their accuracy and completeness, and challenging the assumptions, including both historical and forward–looking 
information, used to determine the ECL.

We found that the management judgment and estimates used to assess the recoverability of the trade receivables and 
determine the impairment provision to be supportable by available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter: Impairment assessment of leasehold building

Refer to Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

We identified the impairment of leasehold building as a key audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined with the significant judgments associated with determining the 
impairment of leasehold building.

The Group has leasehold building with carrying values of HK$409,071,000 (2020: HK$424,768,000) as at 31 March 2021, 
representing 20% (2020: 22%) of the Group’s total assets. Based on a review of the business, the outlook for the industry and 
the Group’s operating plans, management has assessed the carrying amount and no impairment provision is provided. The 
conclusion is dependent upon significant management judgement, including estimated utilisation of the building and discount 
rates applied to future cash flows.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment assessment of leasehold building included:

•	 evaluating the independent external valuers’ competence, capabilities and objectivity;
•	 assessing the valuation methodologies used and the appropriateness of the key assumptions; and
•	 discussing the valuations with the valuers and challenging key estimates adopted in the valuations, including those 

relating to future cash flows to be derived from continuing use of the asset; and discount rate, through the analysis of the 
industry comparable.

Based on available evidence, we found that management’s assumptions in relation to the valuation are reasonable.

Key Audit Matter: Valuation of investment properties

Refer to Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined with the significant judgments associated with determination the fair 
value.

The Group’s investment properties are located in Hong Kong and Australia. Management has estimated the fair value of the 
Group’s investment properties to be HK$489,998,000 (2020: HK$383,843,000) as at 31 March 2021, represented 24% 
(2020: 20%) of the Group’s total assets. The valuations are dependent on certain key assumptions that require significant 
management judgement including fair market rents.

Independent external valuations were obtained in order to support management’s estimates.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter: Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our procedures in relation to management’s valuation of investment properties included:

•	 understanding and evaluating the internal controls relating to management’s valuation model used, development of 
significant assumptions and estimates, and major data inputs related to the valuation models;

•	 evaluating the independent external valuers’ competence, capabilities and objectivity;
•	 assessing the methodologies used and the appropriateness of the key assumptions based on our knowledge of the 

property market;
•	 considering the appropriateness of the resale values and market unit rent estimated by the external valuer based on the 

recent transaction prices in the property industry;
•	 on a sample basis, comparing the occupancy rates, room rates, and tenancy information included in the valuation models 

with underlying contracts and related documentation; and
•	 discussing the valuations with the valuers and challenging key estimates adopted in the valuations, including those 

relating to market selling prices and market rents, by comparing them with historical rates and available market data, 
taking into consideration comparability and other local market factors.

We found the key assumptions were supported by available evidence. The fair market rents supported by recent renewals was 
in line with our expectation.

Key Audit Matter: Estimation of provision for long service payments

Refer to Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Employees who have completed certain years of services with the Group are entitled to long service payments. The Group’s 
net obligations in respect of long service payments are the amounts of future benefits that employees have earned in return for 
their service in the current and prior periods, calculated in accordance with the applicable laws in Hong Kong.

Management has estimated the provision for the long service payments to be approximately HK$12,423,000 (2020: 
HK$22,185,000) as at 31 March 2021. Management utilises the market value of Mandatory Provident Fund (the “MPF”) and 
personnel data to perform estimation of long service payments, which involves significant judgment and significant assumptions 
used in the calculations.

The abovementioned balances involve accounting estimates that have been identified as having high estimation uncertainty, we 
consider the provision for long service payments to constitute a key audit matter in the audit of the Group.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter: Estimation of provision for long service payments (Continued)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our procedures in relation to management’s estimation of provision for long service payments included:

•	 reviewing whether the calculation of long service payments is in compliance with the Employment Ordinance (Cap.57) of 
Hong Kong;

•	 assessing the completeness and accuracy of personnel data underlying the estimation of fair value of MPF by testing the 
operating effectiveness of internal controls, and checking relevant data to supporting documentation on a sample basis;

•	 analysing the assumptions and input parameters determined by management, such as turnover rate and recent payment 
experience. In doing so, we examined the methodology used to determine the parameters and the consistency with prior 
year;

•	 assessing the appropriateness of the asset valuation in the MPF scheme underlying the calculation;
•	 testing the internal controls over the provision for long service payments; and
•	 testing the accuracy of changes in the provision made and the benefits paid to the employees.

Based on the available evidence, we found that management’s estimation is supportable.

Key Audit Matter: Impairment assessment of loans and interest receivables

Refer to Notes 21 and 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had significant loans and interest receivables of approximately HK$292,238,000 (2020: 
HK$223,922,000), representing approximately 14% (2020: 12%) of the Group’s total assets in total. The loans and interest 
receivables are due from staff and independent corporations and all balances were secured by the collaterals.

The Group measures the ECL of loans and interest receivables in a way to reflect i) the time value of money; and ii) reasonable 
and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, current 
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

We identified the impairment assessment of loans and interest receivables as a key audit matter due to the significance of the 
balance to the consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined with the key management judgements and estimates 
associated with determining the ECL.

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Our audit procedures for the assessment of the recoverability of the outstanding loans receivables included the following:

•	 understanding the Group’s internal controls relating to the collection, use and retention of the Group’s data for ECL 
estimation on loans and interest receivables;

•	 understanding the ECL models established by the Group and assessing the ECL estimation of loans and interest 
receivables made by the management based on its correlation with previous, subsequent or forecast data of the Group;

•	 reviewing the Group’s assumptions on the expected future cash flows, including the realisable value of collateral based 
on available market information; and

•	 evaluating the disclosures regarding impairment measurement of loans and interest receivables in Note 35(b) to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Based on the available evidence, we found that management’s estimation is supportable.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to 
you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do 
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

•	 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 
or the override of internal control.

•	 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosure made by the Directors.

•	 conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

•	 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

HLM CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Ng Fai Fiona
Practicing Certificate Number P04986

Hong Kong, 18 June 2021
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 699,619 823,014
Other income 5 93,354 43,123
Raw materials and consumables used (66,601) (125,063)
Staff costs including directors’ emoluments 7 (445,942) (515,450)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (34,054) (51,198)
Other operating expenses (91,585) (101,936)
Fair value adjustments on investment properties 16 39,896 (53,209)
Fair value adjustments on financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 17 (636) (1,701)
Net exchange gain/(loss) 41,634 (30,111)
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 532 490
Finance costs 9 (269) (255)  

Profit/(loss) before tax 8 235,948 (12,296)
Income tax (expense)/credit 10 (23,117) 729  

Profit/(loss) for the year 212,831 (11,567)  

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
– Exchange gain/(loss) on translation of financial statements of foreign operations 24,887 (17,301)  

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax 24,887 (17,301)  

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 237,718 (28,868)
  

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 211,238 (10,987)
Non-controlling interests 1,593 (580)  

212,831 (11,567)
  

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company 234,888 (27,463)
Non-controlling interests 2,830 (1,405)  

237,718 (28,868)
  

Earnings/(loss) per share 12
– Basic HK8.81 cents (HK0.46 cent)

  

– Diluted HK8.81 cents (HK0.46 cent)
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2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 465,228 494,495
Leasehold land 15 20,480 21,268
Investment properties 16 489,998 383,843
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 17 8,817 9,453
Loans and interest receivables 21 5,021 9,975
Deferred tax assets 18 4,653 9,553  

994,197 928,587  

Current assets
Inventories 19 50,474 52,633
Trade receivables 20 70,447 73,932
Loans and interest receivables 21 287,217 213,947
Other debtors, deposits and prepayments 22 14,526 23,134
Taxation recoverable 11,285 10,756
Cash and cash equivalents 23 654,265 594,108  

1,088,214 968,510  

Current liabilities
Trade payables 24 13,052 15,974
Other creditors, accruals and deposits received 25 47,056 63,084
Contract liabilities 26 7,422 4,899
Taxation payable 406 3,733
Borrowings 27 7,110 5,717  

75,046 93,407  

Net current assets 1,013,168 875,103  

Total assets less current liabilities 2,007,365 1,803,690  

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 18 68,910 54,995  

Net assets 1,938,455 1,748,695
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2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Share capital 28 1,413,964 1,413,964
Reserves 516,558 329,628  

1,930,522 1,743,592
Non-controlling interests 7,933 5,103  

Total equity 1,938,455 1,748,695
  

The Group’s consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 June 
2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Ching-fat MA Ching-choi MA
Director Director
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2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities
Profit/(loss) before tax 235,948 (12,296)
Adjustments for:

Interest income earned on bank balance and short-term deposits 5 (4,550) (9,059)
Interest expenses 9 269 255
Loss allowance for expected credit loss on trade receivables 35(b) 2,331 129
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 34,054 51,198
Net exchange (gain)/loss (41,634) 30,111
Amortisation of leasehold land 15 788 788
Fair value adjustments on investment properties 16 (39,896) 53,209
Fair value adjustments on financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 17 636 1,701
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (532) (490)  

Operating profit before working capital changes 187,414 115,546
Decrease in inventories 2,159 6,810
Decrease in trade receivables 1,022 24,800
Increase in loans and interest receivables (68,316) (12,226)
Decrease/(increase) in other debtors, deposits and prepayments 8,644 (9,845)
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables (2,922) 2,506
(Decrease)/increase in other creditors, accruals and deposits received (16,008) 6,664
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities 2,523 (1,121)  

Cash generated from operations 114,516 133,134
Income tax paid (14,219) (12,135)
Income tax refunded 2,322 96  

Net cash generated from operating activities 102,619 121,095  

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 14 (4,212) (8,075)
Net proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 560 865
Interest received for bank deposit 4,959 8,838  

Net cash generated from investing activities 1,307 1,628  
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2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Financing activities
Dividends paid 11(b) (47,958) (47,958)
Interest paid 40 (269) (255)  

Net cash used in financing activities (48,227) (48,213)  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 55,699 74,510

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 594,108 524,039
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 4,458 (4,441)  

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 23 654,265 594,108
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Equity attributable to owners of the Company 

Share
capital

Exchange
reserve

Properties
revaluation

reserve
Retained

profits Total

Non-
controlling

interests
Total

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note) (Note) (Note)

At 1 April 2019 1,413,964 13,008 9,700 382,341 1,819,013 6,508 1,825,521       

2019 final dividend paid – – – (47,958) (47,958) – (47,958)       

Transactions with owners – – – (47,958) (47,958) – (47,958)       

Loss for the year – – – (10,987) (10,987) (580) (11,567)
Other comprehensive expense
– Exchange loss on translation of 

financial statements of foreign 
operations – (16,476) – – (16,476) (825) (17,301)       

Total comprehensive expense  
for the year – (16,476) – (10,987) (27,463) (1,405) (28,868)       

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 1,413,964 (3,468) 9,700 323,396 1,743,592 5,103 1,748,695       

2021 interim dividend paid – – – (47,958) (47,958) – (47,958)       

Transactions with owners – – – (47,958) (47,958) – (47,958)       

Profit for the year – – – 211,238 211,238 1,593 212,831
Other comprehensive income
– Exchange gain on translation of 

financial statements of foreign 
operations – 23,650 – – 23,650 1,237 24,887       

Total comprehensive income  
for the year – 23,650 – 211,238 234,888 2,830 237,718       

At 31 March 2021 1,413,964 20,182 9,700 486,676 1,930,522 7,933 1,938,455
       

Note:	 These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$516,558,000 (2020: HK$329,628,000) in the consolidated 
statement of financial position of the Group.
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1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

Oriental Press Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong. 
The address of its registered office is Oriental Press Centre, 23 Dai Cheong Street, Tai Po Industrial Estate, Hong Kong, 
and its principal place of business is in Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and provision of corporate management services. The 
principal activities and other particulars of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 36.

2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW OR AMENDED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following amendments to HKFRSs and Hong Kong Accounting Standards 
(“HKAS”) (collectively “HKFRS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which are 
or have become effective for the Group’s financial year beginning on 1 April, 2020:

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Material
HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Definition of a Business
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and  

HKAS 39 (Amendments) Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
Conceptual Framework for Financial 

Reporting 2018 Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

The application of the above amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group’s 
financial performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated 
financial statements.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF NEW OR AMENDED HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments 
and new standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2021 and have not been adopted in these 
consolidated financial statements, which are:

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Related 
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)5

HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice  
Statement 2 (Amendments) Disclosure of Accounting Policies5

HKAS 8 (Amendments) Definition of Accounting Estimates5

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction5

HKAS 16 (Amendments) Property, Plant and Equipment: Process before Intended Use4

HKAS 37 (Amendments) Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract4

HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Reference to Conceptual Framework4

HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,  
HKFRS 16 and HKAS 39  
(Amendments) Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 22

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (Amendments) Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and Associate  
or Joint Venture6

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions (2020)1

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions (2021)3

HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts and related Amendments5

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements 2018–2020 Cycle4

Accounting Guideline 5 (Revised) Merger Accounting for Common Control Combination7

1	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier application is permitted.
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. Earlier application is permitted.
3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021. Earlier application is permitted, including in financial statements – 

interim or annual.
4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier application is permitted.
5	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. Early application is permitted.
6	 Effective date to be determined.
7	 Effective for common control combinations that occur on or after beginning of the first annual report period on or after 1 January 

2022.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these new and amended HKFRSs is 
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a 
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1	 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements on pages 37 to 102 have been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs 
which collective term includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, HKAS and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA. 
In addition, the consolidated financial statements comply with the applicable disclosure requirements required by 
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance (the “Companies Ordinance”).
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2	 Basis of preparation

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these consolidated financial 
statements are summarised below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented unless 
otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the revaluation 
of certain properties and financial asset at fair value through profit or loss, which are stated at fair values. The 
measurement bases are fully described in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used in preparation of the financial statements. 
Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results 
may ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair Value

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes 
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into 
account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure 
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based 
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-Based Payment, leasing transactions that are 
within the scope of HKFRS 16 Lease, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair 
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

For investment properties which are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are 
to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated so that the results of 
the valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on 
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

•	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity 
can access at the measurement date;

•	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

•	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.3	 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and of the entities 
(including structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the 
Company:

•	 has power over the investee;
•	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
•	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it still controls such investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from 
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company 
and to the non-controlling interests even if these results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies to be in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent 
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries 
upon liquidation.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.4	 Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control 
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests 
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. 
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group losses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the 
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained 
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary 
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in 
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities 
of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted 
by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control 
is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments (“HKFRS 9”), when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint 
venture.

3.5	 Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the 
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received. 

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred 
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in 
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under “other income”.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.6	 Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollars (HK$), which is also the functional 
currency for the Company and its subsidiaries except for those incorporated in Australia, which functional currency 
is Australian Dollars.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 
entity’s functional currency are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At 
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for:

•	 exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under construction for future 
productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to 
interest costs on those foreign currency borrowings;

•	 exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (see the 
accounting policies below); and

•	 exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which 
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign 
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit 
or loss on repayment of the monetary items.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group, using exchange rates prevailing at the end 
of each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, 
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of 
the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in equity under the heading of foreign currency translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling 
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a 
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint 
control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant 
influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in equity 
in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.6	 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing control over 
the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are reattributed to non-controlling 
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or 
jointly controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate 
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a 
foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange 
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

3.7	 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including freehold building held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, or for administrative purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less their residual values over their useful life, using 
the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold building Over the lease terms
Plant, machinery and printing equipment 5.0%–33.3%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20.0%–33.3%
Leasehold building improvement 20.0%
Motor vehicles 18.8%–25.0%

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful life on the same basis as owned 
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease 
term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an 
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.8	 Leasehold land

Upfront payments made to acquire land held under an operating lease are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. The determination if an arrangement is or contains a lease 
and the lease is an operating lease is detailed in Note 3.13. Amortisation is calculated on a straight line basis over 
the term of the lease/right of use except where an alternative basis is more representative of the time pattern of 
benefits to be derived by the Group from use of the land.

3.9	 Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including hotel property). 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to excluded any prepaid or accrued operating lease 
income. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss 
in the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn 
from use and no future economic benefits are expected. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the property 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included 
in profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

If an item of investment property becomes a property, plant and equipment because its use has changed as 
evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation, the property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting shall 
be its fair value at the date of change in use.

3.10	 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instruments. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and 
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising from 
contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets 
and financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability 
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received 
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.10	 Financial instruments (Continued)

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

•	 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and
•	 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are required to be measured at the amortised 
cost as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

i.	 Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for financial assets measured subsequently 
at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see 
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. 
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer 
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the determination that the 
asset is no longer credit impaired.

ii.	 Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on remeasurement 
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any interest earned on 
the financial assets.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on financial assets (including trade receivables, and 
other debtors and loans and interest receivables) which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of 
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.10	 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the relevant 
instrument. In contrast, twelve-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from 
default events that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the 
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic 
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future 
conditions.

The Group recognises ECL for trade receivables under simplified approach and loans and interest receivables 
under general approach. The ECL on trade receivables are assessed individually for debtors with significant 
balances.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to twelve-month ECL, unless when there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises ECL. The assessment of 
whether ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring 
since initial recognition.

i.	 Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares 
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default 
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group 
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including historical 
experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 
significantly:

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or 
internal credit rating;

•	 significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit 
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

•	 existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to 
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and
•	 an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological 

environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.10	 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

ii.	 Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of default occurs when information 
developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, 
including the Group, in full.

Irrespectively of the above, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 
365 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more 
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

iii.	 Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a detrimental impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

•	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
•	 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
•	 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 

difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise 
consider;

•	 it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
•	 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties; or
•	 insufficient underlying assets pledged by borrowers.

iv.	 Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been 
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, 
when the amounts are over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still 
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice 
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised 
in profit or loss.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.10	 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

v.	 Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) (i.e. the 
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and exposure at default. The assessment of the PD and LGD 
is based on historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and 
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. 
The Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables taking into consideration 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost 
or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between a contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the 
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for 
determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance 
with HKFRS 16.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial 
asset is credit impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the financial 
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting 
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables and loans receivables where the corresponding 
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.10	 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial assets and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfer nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
and continues to control the transferred assets, the Group recognises its retained interests in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognised the financial assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost and at FVTPL, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and the receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance 
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all 
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain 
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity 
instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities (including borrowings, trade payables, other creditors and accruals) are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of 
business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less 
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.10	 Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Borrowings, other creditors and accruals

Borrowings, other creditors and accruals are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional 
right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of each reporting period.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid or 
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

3.11	 Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out 
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated cost 
of completion and applicable selling expenses.

3.12	 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and bank equivalents represent cash at banks and in hand, time deposits with banks and other financial 
institutions, and short-term liquid investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and 
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition. For the 
purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts or bank loans, if any, which are repayable on 
demand and form an integral part of an enterprise’s cash managements are also included as component of cash 
and cash equivalents.

3.13	 Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application or arising from business 
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless 
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.13	 Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the 
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone 
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of office premise and printing equipment 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It 
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on leases of low-value assets 
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

•	 the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;
•	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received;
•	 any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and
•	 an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring 

the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and 
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and measured under fair value model, right-of-use 
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at 
the end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-
of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to 
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use 
assets.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.13	 Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the lease liability at the present value 
of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses 
the incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily 
determinable.

The lease payments include:

•	 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable;
•	 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 

commencement date;
•	 amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;
•	 the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and
•	 payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to 

terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) 
whenever:

•	 the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in 
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised 
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

•	 the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates following a market rent review, in which 
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial 
discount rate.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

•	 the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; 
and

•	 the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the 
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of 
the particular contract.



59

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.13	 Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability 
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the reviewed lease payments using a revised discount 
rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding adjustment to the relevant 
right-of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or 
non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component on 
the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-
lease components.

The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the 
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the 
contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term except for investment properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which is derived from the Group’s ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease 
components. Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the basis of their relative stand-
alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. 
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.13	 Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of the original terms and conditions are accounted 
for as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease from the effective date of the 
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease 
payments for the new lease.

3.14	 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past events, 
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate 
of the amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at 
the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated 
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is 
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one 
or more future uncertain events that are not wholly within the control of the Group are also disclosed as contingent 
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

3.15	 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

3.16	 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and rendering of 
services, net of rebates and discounts and after elimination of sales and services rendered within the Group.

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step process in accordance with HKFRS 15:

(i)	 Identifying the contract with a customer
(ii)	 Identifying the performance obligations
(iii)	 Determining the transaction price
(iv)	 Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations
(v)	 Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.16	 Revenue recognition (Continued)

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various performance obligations 
based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing benefit to the customer 
for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted using the 
discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction with the customer, and interest income is 
accrued separately under the effective interest method. Where the contract contains a financing component which 
provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes the interest 
expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance 
obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to its customers. Further details of the Group’s revenue 
recognition policies are as follows:

(i)	 Revenue from sales of newspapers to distributors or customers is recognised on completion of delivery.
(ii)	 Advertising income is recognised when the relevant advertisement is published or broadcasted.
(iii)	 Revenue from printing services is recognised upon provision of the services.
(iv)	 Restaurant operation income is recognised when the meal was provided.
(v)	 Rental income under operating leases is recognised as revenue in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 

the periods covered by the lease terms. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the 
aggregate net lease payments receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the accounting 
period in which they are earned.

(vi)	 Interest income is accrued on a time basis using the effective interest method.
(vii)	 Internet subscription income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the subscription period.
(viii)	 Internet advertising income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of the relevant advertisement 

is published.
(ix)	 License fee income from hotel property is recognised on a straight-line basis over the periods covered by the 

license term in accordance with the license agreements.
(x)	 Service income recognised on performance of obligation in accordance with agreement.

Contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the 
Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If the considerations 
(including advances received from customers) exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the output method 
then the Group recognises a contract liability for the difference.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.17	 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined contribution plans.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory 
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (“MPF Ordinance”), for all of its employees who are eligible to participate in the 
MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries, subject to a cap in 
accordance with the MPF Ordinance.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as employees render services during the year. The 
Group’s obligations under the MPF Scheme are limited to the fixed percentage contributions payable.

Short-term employee benefits

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for 
the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting 
period.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time 
of leave.

Long service payments

Employees who have completed certain years of services with the Group are entitled to a long service payment. 
The Group’s net obligations in respect of long service payments are the amounts of future benefits that employees 
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods, calculated in accordance with the applicable 
laws in Hong Kong.

3.18	 Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed as incurred.

3.19	 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax 
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because of items of 
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
end of the reporting period.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.19	 Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will 
be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than 
in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries 
and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments and interests 
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise 
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to 
be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 
liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the 
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of 
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets for investment properties that are 
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered 
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment 
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the 
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same 
taxation authority.

Current or deferred tax for the year is recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax 
arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the 
business combination.
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3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.19	 Taxation (Continued)

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group considers whether it is probable that the 
relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by individual group entities 
in their income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred taxes are determined consistently with the tax 
treatment in the income tax filings. If it is not probable that the relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain tax 
treatment, the effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the most likely amount or the expected value.

3.20	 Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)	 the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person:

(i)	 has control or joint control of the Group;
(ii)	 has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii)	 is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b)	 the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i)	 the entity and the Group are members of the same group;
(ii)	 one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow 

subsidiary of the other entity);
(iii)	 the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;
(iv)	 one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;
(v)	 the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity 

related to the Group;
(vi)	 the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);
(vii)	 a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or
(viii)	 the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel services 

to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity.

Close family members of an individual are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the entity, including:

(i)	 that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(ii)	 children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and
(iii)	 dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.



65

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

3.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.21	 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment information based on the regular internal financial 
information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being the chief operating decision makers, for their 
decisions about resources allocation to the Group’s business components and for their review of the performance 
of those components. The business components in the internal financial information reported are determined in 
accordance with the Group’s major product and service lines. The Group has identified two reportable segments, 
the publication of newspapers and money lending business. The publication of newspapers including internet 
subscription and relevant advertising income.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting segment under HKFRS 8 are the same as those used in its 
consolidated financial statements prepared under HKFRSs, except the corporate income and expenses which are 
not included in arriving at the operating results of the operating segment as they are not directly attributable to the 
business activities of any operating segment.

Segment assets include all assets but the financial asset of FVTPL.

4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future on an ongoing basis. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are discussed below.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements.

(i)	 Estimated fair value of investment properties (the “Properties”)

The Properties of the Group were stated at fair value in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 3.9. 
The fair value of the Properties is determined by the independently qualified professional valuers and the fair value of 
the Properties as at respective year end is set out in Note 16. Such valuations were based on certain assumptions, 
which are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from the actual results.

In making the estimation, consideration has been given to assumptions that are mainly based on market condition 
existing at the end of the reporting period. These estimates are regularly compared to actual market data and actual 
transactions entered into by the Group.
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4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies (Continued)

(ii)	 Estimated impairment of leasehold building

Leasehold building are reviewed by management for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use of the leasehold building. Management makes judgments on whether such events or 
changes in circumstances have occurred, and makes estimates in determining the recoverable amount.

(iii)	 Depreciation

The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives as 
mentioned in Note 3.7, starting from the date on which the assets are placed into productive use. The estimated 
useful lives reflect the management’s estimate of the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic 
benefits from the use of the Group’s property, plant and equipment.

(iv)	 Estimated impairment of loans and interest receivables

Loans and interest receivables are assessed for ECL individually. Loans receivables are assessed under 12-month 
ECL if the credit risk on loans receivables have not increased significantly while loans receivables are assessed 
under ECL if the credit risk on loans receivables have increased significantly. The management of the Group 
estimates the amount of ECL based on collaterals against loans receivables, borrowers’ creditworthiness, the 
payment delinquency or default in interest or principal payments, borrowers’ business and the industry to which 
borrowers belong and local economic conditions. At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk for exposures since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default 
occurring over the expected life between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information about the ECL of the Group’s loans and 
interest receivables are disclosed in Note 35(b).

(v)	 Impairment assessment of trade receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of loss allowance for ECL for trade receivables by assessing 
the ECLs, which requires the use of estimates and judgements. Assessing the ECLs requires to expected credit 
loss rates based on credit profile of different customers, aging of the trade receivables, historical settlement 
records, subsequent settlement status, expected timing and amount of realisation of outstanding balances, and 
ongoing trading relationships with the relevant customers. The loss allowance for ECL is sensitive to changes in 
estimates.

The information about the ECLs and the Group’s loss allowance for ECL regarding trade receivables is disclosed in 
Notes 20 and 35(b).

(vi)	 Provision for long service payment

The Group’s provision for long service payments is based on the best estimation of the probable future payments 
that have been earned by the employees from their services to the Group at the end of each reporting period. The 
payments due are dependent on future events and recent payment experience may not be indicative of future 
payments. Any increase or decrease in the provision would affect profit or loss in future years.
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5.	 REVENUE

Revenue recognised during the year is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from contracts with customers recognised at a point of time:
Publication of newspapers and advertising income 524,647 659,734
Internet subscription and advertising income 127,519 117,170
Income from restaurant operation 6,394 6,940

Revenue from contracts with customers recognised over time:
Internet subscription – 78

Revenue from other sources:
Interest earned on loans receivables 21,081 15,458
License fee income from hotel property 6,865 10,138
Rental income from investment properties 13,113 13,496  

699,619 823,014
  

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Key items of other income are as follows:
Other income from contracts with customers recognised at a point in time:

Sales of scrap materials 1,527 1,984
Other service income 8,377 13,447

Other income from contracts with customers recognised over time:
Other service income 11,847 13,867

Other income from other sources:
Interest earned on bank balances and short-term deposits 4,550 9,059
Government grants (Note) 61,289 –

  

Note:	 HK$59,768,000 of the government grants is the funding support from the Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) under the Anti-
epidemic Funds, set up by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government. The purpose of the ESS is to provide 
financial support to employers to retain employees who may otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the 
Group is required not to implement redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend all the funding on payment of wages to 
its employees.

HK$1,513,000 of the government grants is the funding support from Job Keeper Payment (“JKP”) scheme and Temporary 
Cashflow Boost (“TCB”) administered by the Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”). The purpose of the JKP and TCB is to support 
businesses affected by COVID-19 and to help keep more Australians in jobs.

HK$8,000 of the government grants is the funding support from the Enhanced Anti-epidemic Support Scheme for Property 
Management Sector (“Enhanced ASPM”) under the Anti-epidemic Fund set up by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region 
Government. The purpose of the Enhanced ASPM is to provide financial support to industrial and commercial building block to 
alleviate the costs arising from heightened cleansing efforts.
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Based on the regular internal financial information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being the chief 
operating decision makers, for their decisions about resources allocation to the Group’s business components and 
review of these components’ performance, the Group has identified reportable operating segments, including the 
publication of newspapers, money lending business and other operating segments. The publication of newspapers 
includes internet subscription of newspaper and advertising income. The money lending business comprises of interest 
income earned in the provision of loan financing. The revenue of other operating segments include rental income from 
investment properties, license fee income from hotel property and income from restaurant operation.

Reportable segment revenue represented turnover of the Group in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. Segment profit or loss represents the profit earned by or loss from each segment without 
allocation of directors’ emoluments, government grants, net exchange gain or loss, bank interest income, sundry income 
and finance costs.

Reconciliation between the reportable segment profit or loss to the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is presented below:

Publication of 
newspapers

Money lending 
business

All other 
segments Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Reportable segment revenue from 
external customers 652,166 776,982 21,081 15,458 26,372 30,574 699,619 823,014

        

Reportable segment profit/(loss) 91,057 75,517 19,460 13,956 39,427 (47,647) 149,944 41,826
      

Government grants 58,634 – – – 2,655 – 61,289 –
      

Unallocated corporate income 21,833 14,730
Unallocated exchange gain/(loss) 41,634 (30,111)
Unallocated corporate expenses (38,752) (38,741)  

Profit/(loss) before tax 235,948 (12,296)
  

Other information
Depreciation and amortisation (33,589) (50,101) – – (1,253) (1,885) (34,842) (51,986)
Fair value adjustments on 

investment properties – – – – 39,896 (53,209) 39,896 (53,209)
Additions to property, plant and 

equipment 3,644 7,345 – – 568 730 4,212 8,075
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Reportable segment assets and liabilities

Publication of 
newspapers

Money lending 
business

All other 
segments Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Segment assets 518,509 575,617 293,529 224,074 607,291 493,845 1,419,329 1,293,536
      

Unallocated assets
Financial assets at fair value  

through profit or loss 8,817 9,453
Cash and cash equivalents 654,265 594,108  

Consolidated total assets 2,082,411 1,897,097
  

LIABILITIES

Segment liabilities 104,155 123,482 120 48 39,681 24,872 143,956 148,402
        

The Group’s revenue from external customers and its non-current assets (other than the financial asset at fair value 
through profit or loss and deferred tax assets) are divided into the following geographical areas:

Revenue from 
external customers Non-current assets

2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Hong Kong 683,306 802,663 611,978 644,678
Australia 16,313 20,351 368,749 264,903    

699,619 823,014 980,727 909,581
    

The geographical location of customers is determined based on the location in which the services were provided or the 
goods delivered. The geographical location of the non-current assets (other than the financial asset at fair value through 
profit or loss and deferred tax assets) is determined based on the physical location of the assets. For the purpose of 
presenting geographical location of the Group’s revenue from external customers and the Group’s non-current assets 
(other than financial asset at fair value through profit or loss and deferred tax assets), the location is determined by 
reference to the place where the majority business activities of the Company’s subsidiaries operate.

During the year, HK$366,146,000 (2020: HK$412,724,000) out of the Group’s revenue of HK$699,619,000 (2020: 
HK$823,014,000) was contributed by two (2020: two) customers. No other single customer contributed 10% or more to 
the Group’s revenue for both 2021 and 2020.
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7.	 STAFF COSTS INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Wages and salaries 428,321 477,904
Long service payments – 16,473
Termination benefits 2,642 3,756
Pension costs – defined contribution plans 14,979 17,317  

445,942 515,450
  

8.	 PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit/(loss) from operations is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Auditor’s remuneration* 1,251 1,230
Amortisation of leasehold land* 788 788
Cost of inventories recognised as expense 66,601 125,063
Land tax expenses* 3,459 2,864
Lease charges for lease of low-value assets* 2,244 2,686
(Over-provision)/provision of long services payment (3,442) 16,473
Loss allowance for expected credit loss on trade receivables* 2,331 129
Repair and maintenance* 15,982 15,055
Water and electricity* 14,888 17,225
Rental income from investment properties (excluding hotel property)# (13,113) (13,496)
Less: Direct operating expenses from investment properties that generated rental 

income* 1,360 944
Direct operating expenses from investment properties that did not generate 

rental income* – 345
Rental income from investment properties (excluding hotel property) less direct 

operating expenses (11,753) (12,207)
  

*	 recorded as other operating expenses
#	 recorded as revenue

9.	 FINANCE COSTS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest charges on borrowings:
Other loan 269 255

  



71

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

10.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for the year, 
except for the first HK$2,000,000 of a qualified entity’s assessable profit which is calculated at 8.25%. The two-tiered 
profits tax rates regime is applicable to one entity within the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021. Taxation on 
overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable profits for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in 
the jurisdictions in which the Company’s subsidiaries operate.

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax
– Hong Kong Profits Tax 8,852 12,455
– Overseas Income Tax – 239  

8,852 12,694  

Over provision in prior year:
– Hong Kong Profits Tax (559) (39)
– Overseas Income Tax (251) –  

(810) (39)  

Deferred taxation (Note 18)
– Current year 15,075 (13,384)  

23,117 (729)
  

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit/(loss) before tax as stated in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit/(loss) before tax 235,948 (12,296)
  

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) 38,931 (2,029)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions 4,658 (3,845)
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue (19,848) (4,015)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 515 9,675
Over provision in respect of prior years (810) (39)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (16) (64)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised – 15
Tax effect on temporary differences not recognised (6) (6)
Tax effect of two-tiered profits tax regime (165) (165)
Tax effect on tax concession (142) (256)  

Income tax expense/(credit) 23,117 (729)
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11.	 DIVIDENDS

(a)	 Dividends attributable to the year

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interim dividend paid
HK2 cents per share (2020: Nil) 47,958 –

Proposed final dividend
HK2 cents (2020: Nil) 47,958 –

Proposed special dividend
HK5 cents per share (2020: Nil) 119,896 –  

215,812 –
  

A final dividend of HK2 cents per share (2020: Nil) and special dividend of HK5 cents per share (2020: Nil) has been 
proposed by the Board of Directors and are subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming annual 
general meeting.

(b)	 Dividends recognised as distributions during the year

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

2019 Final dividend – 47,958
2021 Interim dividend 47,958 –  

47,958 47,958
  

12.	 EARNINGS/LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings/loss per share is based on the profit attributable to owners of the Company of 
HK$211,238,000 (2020: loss of HK$10,987,000) and on 2,397,917,898 (2020: 2,397,917,898) ordinary shares in issue 
during the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, diluted earnings/loss per share was the same as the basic earnings/loss 
per share as there were no dilutive shares in issue during the years.
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13.	 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The emoluments of the top five individuals during the year included three (2020: three) directors, details of whose 
emoluments are set out in Note 39(a). The emoluments payable to the remaining two individuals during the year (2020: 
two) are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 8,110 8,107
Contribution to defined contribution plan 18 18  

8,128 8,125
  

The emoluments fall within the following bands:

Number of individuals

2021 2020

Emolument bands
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1 1
HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 1 1

  

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to these individuals as an inducement to join, or upon joining the 
Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
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14.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

HK
Leasehold

building

Plant,
machinery

and printing
equipment

Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment

Leasehold
building

improvements
Motor

vehicles Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost
At 1 April 2019 655,636 824,599 121,456 8,776 25,520 1,635,987
Additions – 2,619 3,794 – 1,662 8,075
Disposals – (1,006) (893) – (2,603) (4,502)
Exchange adjustment – (411) (1,164) – (222) (1,797)      

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 655,636 825,801 123,193 8,776 24,357 1,637,763
Additions – 2,725 669 59 759 4,212
Disposals – (1,527) (873) – (2,334) (4,734)
Exchange adjustment – 613 1,706 – 318 2,637      

At 31 March 2021 655,636 827,612 124,695 8,835 23,100 1,639,878      

Depreciation
At 1 April 2019 215,171 738,632 118,020 7,867 17,792 1,097,482
Provided for the year 15,697 29,617 1,962 231 3,691 51,198
Eliminated on disposal – (999) (858) – (2,270) (4,127)
Exchange adjustment – (243) (923) – (119) (1,285)      

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 230,868 767,007 118,201 8,098 19,094 1,143,268
Provided for the year 15,697 13,052 2,050 237 3,018 34,054
Eliminated on disposal – (1,525) (848) – (2,333) (4,706)
Exchange adjustment – 393 1,404 – 237 2,034      

At 31 March 2021 246,565 778,927 120,807 8,335 20,016 1,174,650      

Carrying amounts
At 31 March 2021 409,071 48,685 3,888 500 3,084 465,228

      

At 31 March 2020 424,768 58,794 4,992 678 5,263 494,495
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15.	 LEASEHOLD LAND

The Group’s interests in leasehold land represent prepaid lease payments and their carrying amounts are analysed as 
follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

In Hong Kong held on leases 20,480 21,268
  

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at beginning of year 21,268 22,056
Annual charges of prepaid lease payments (788) (788)  

Balance at end of year 20,480 21,268
  

16.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties represent real estate properties located in Hong Kong and overseas, which are owned for 
investment purposes only.

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Fair value
Balance at beginning of year 383,843 483,345
Fair value adjustment 39,896 (53,209)
Exchange adjustment 66,259 (46,293)  

Balance at end of year 489,998 383,843
  

Fair value measurement of the Group’s investment properties

Investment properties situated in Australia were revalued at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 by Messrs. Jeffrey 
Perkings & Assoc. Property Valuers & Consultants, independent qualified professional valuer not connected to the Group. 
Messrs. Jeffrey Perkings & Assoc. Property Valuers & Consultants is a member of the Real Estate Institute of New South 
Wales, Australia. The valuations were arrived at by reference to comparable sales evidence as available in the relevant 
market with due allowance for the reversionary potential of the respective properties at the end of the reporting period.

Investment properties situated in Hong Kong were revalued at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 by Peak Vision 
Appraisals Limited, independent qualified professional valuer not connected to the Group. The valuation were arrived by 
reference to the current rents passing and the reversionary income potential of the tenancies or, where appropriate, by 
reference to comparable sales evidence as available in the relevant markets at the end of the reporting period.
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16.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s investment properties (Continued)

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2021 are as 
follows:

Level 3
Fair value as at 
31 March 2021

Fair value as at 
31 March 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties located
in Australia 366,198 366,198 262,243
in Hong Kong 123,800 123,800 121,600   

489,998 489,998 383,843
   

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

The following table gives information about how the fair values of the major investment properties are determined (in 
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs used).

Investment
properties held
by the Group

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

Significant
unobservable inputs Sensitivity

Hotel located in  
383 Bulwara Road  
Ultimo 2007  
Sydney Australia

Direct comparison approach 
from available sales evidence

Subject equates to 
approximately AUD281,000  
(2020: AUD240,000)  
per guest room and 
equates to approximately 
AUD10,477  
(2020: AUD8,925)  
per square metre  
for property

Sydney hotel market has been 
severely recessed due to 
Covid-19 impact. However it 
is predicted to improve with 
easing of travel restrictions.

Increased fair value due to 
easing of travel restrictions 
and improving outlook for 
post Covid-19 scenario.

Moderate sensitivity with 
improving past Covid-19 
outlook.
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Investment
properties held
by the Group

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

Significant
unobservable inputs Sensitivity

Retail and office  
building located  
in 2 Short Street  
Double Bay  
NSW Australia

Direct comparison approach 
from available sales 
evidence. 

Subject equates to 
approximately AUD11,803  
(2020: AUD11,371) per 
square metre for properties

The property is currently 
reasonably well let with new 
tenants. Gym businesses 
were hard hit during 
Covid-19 shutdowns and 
restrictions, however these 
restrictions appear to have 
now been lifted.

Fair value is likely to improve 
post Covid-19.

In inferior back-street location 
to most comparables. 

The current low interest 
rate environment has 
encouraged investors  
and lowered yields.

Sensitivity to market has 
levelled with lifting of 
restrictions, however there 
may be some concerns with 
government debt and the 
possibility of interest rates 
rising.

Commercial and retail 
premises located in  
29, 31 & 33  
Bay Street  
Double Bay  
NSW Australia

Direct comparison approach 
from available sales 
evidence.

Subject equates to 
approximately AUD19,341 
(2020: AUD18,901) per 
square meter  
for properties

The property is currently 
reasonably well let and 
with new restaurant tenant 
undertaking renovations. 
Restaurant business were 
hard hit during Covid-19 
shutdowns and restrictions, 
however these restrictions 
appear to have now been 
lifted.

Fair value is likely to improve 
post Covid-19.

The current low interest 
rate environment has 
encouraged investors 
and lowered yields.

The Double Bay commercial 
market has been relatively 
firm. The three premises 
overlap and are largely 
utilized as a single holding. 
Good retail location.

Sensitivity to market has 
levelled with lifting of 
restrictions, however there 
may be some concerns with 
government debt and the 
possibility of interest rates 
rising.

16.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s investment properties (Continued)
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Investment
properties held
by the Group

Valuation techniques
and key inputs

Significant
unobservable inputs Sensitivity

Commercial and retail 
premises located in  
35, 37 & 39  
Bay Street  
Double Bay NSW 
Australia

Direct comparison approach 
from available sales 
evidence. 

Subject equates to 
approximately AUD24,575 
(2020: AUD21,569)  
per square meter for 
properties

The property is currently 
reasonably well let and 
with new restaurant tenant 
undertaking renovations. 
Restaurant business were 
hard hit during Covid-19 
shutdowns and restrictions, 
however these restrictions 
appear to have now been 
lifted.

Fair value is likely to improve 
post Covid-19.

The current low interest 
rate environment has 
encouraged investors 
and lowered yields.

The Double Bay commercial 
market has been relatively 
firm. The three premises 
overlap and are largely 
utilised as a single holding. 
Good retail location with 
large land size.

Sensitivity to market has 
levelled with lifting of 
restrictions, however there 
may be some concerns with 
government debt and the 
possibility of interest rates 
rising.

Office premises located in 
Island Place Tower  
Island Place  
No. 510 King’s Road  
North Point  
Hong Kong

Investment method

Market unit rent per month 
HK$29 to HK$40 per sq.ft. 
(2020: HK$31 to HK$38 per 
sq.ft.)

Term yield at 2.75%  
(2020: 2.5%)

Reversionary yield at 2.5% 
(2020: 2.75%)

Assuming that the market rent 
stand, the decrease in the 
reversionary yield would 
result in a increase in fair 
value.

Assuming that the yield stand, 
the increase in the market 
unit rent would result in an 
increase in fair value.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in the prior year.

16.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s investment properties (Continued)



79

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

17.	 FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (“FVTPL”)

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Club membership 8,817 9,453
  

Movement of financial asset at FVTPL is analysed as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of the year 9,453 11,154
Decrease in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL (636) (1,701)  

At the end of the year 8,817 9,453
  

The fair value of the club membership was approximately HK$8,817,000 (2020: HK$9,453,000) as valued by Peak 
Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent firm of professional valuers. The fair value is determined directly by reference 
to published price quotations in second hand markets and were categorised as level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. For the 
year ended 31 March 2021, a decrease in fair value of approximately HK$636,000 (2020: HK$1,701,000) is recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

18.	 DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using the applicable tax rates at 
end of the reporting period in the tax jurisdiction concerned.

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year is as follows:

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation
Revaluation 
of properties

Tax 
losses Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2019 29,067 50,608 (16,927) (1,268) 61,480
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 10) (1,960) (11,816) 578 (186) (13,384)
Exchange differences 21 (3,863) 1,277 (89) (2,654)     

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 27,128 34,929 (15,072) (1,543) 45,442
Recognised in profit or loss (Note 10) (753) 10,679 3,929 1,220 15,075
Exchange differences (53) 5,436 (1,869) 226 3,740     

At 31 March 2021 26,322 51,044 (13,012) (97) 64,257
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18.	 DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax assets (4,653) (9,553)
Deferred tax liabilities 68,910 54,995  

64,257 45,442
  

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit 
through the future taxable profits is probable. These tax losses have no expiry date. The Group has unrecognised tax 
losses of HK$558,000 (2020:HK$656,000) due to the unpredictability of the future profit streams.

19.	 INVENTORIES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

At cost:

Newsprint and printing materials 35,476 37,825
Spare parts and supplies 13,107 13,446
Others 1,891 1,362  

50,474 52,633
  

Inventories of spare parts and supplies totaling HK$13,107,000 (2020: HK$13,446,000) are expected to be consumed 
and charged to profit or loss during the course of business and might span for more than 12 months.

20.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 76,564 77,632
Less: Loss allowance for ECL (6,117) (3,700)  

70,447 73,932
  

The Group allows an average credit of 90 days to its trade customers and no interest is charged. For the individual 
customers that had a good track record, the Group allows a longer credit term for them. All trade receivables are 
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and Australian Dollars.
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20.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables after deducting the loss allowance for ECL presented based on 
invoice dates at the end of the reporting period:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 60 days 32,435 25,832
61 – 90 days 11,318 13,515
Over 90 days 26,694 34,585  

70,447 73,932
  

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large number of diversified customers for whom 
there was no recent history of default.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables, the carrying amount of HK$26,694,000 (2020: HK$34,585,000) are past due 
but not impaired at the reporting date.

Aging analysis of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

91 – 120 days 8,150 9,741
121 – 365 days 17,661 20,910
Over 365 days 883 3,934  

26,694 34,585
  

Details and movements of impairment assessment of trade receivables for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in 
Note 35(b).
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21.	 LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Analysed as:
Current 287,217 213,947
Non-current 5,021 9,975  

292,238 223,922
  

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its loans granting and outstanding loan receivables to minimise credit risk. 
These loans (including staff property mortgage loans) were approved and monitored by the Group’s management, whilst 
overdue balances are reviewed regularly for recoverability. Loans receivables bear interest at rates ranging from 1.6% per 
annum to 21.96% per annum (2020: 1.6% per annum to 9.84% per annum), mutually agreed between the contracting 
parties.

Secured loans receivables have maturity ranging from 1 year to 17 years (2020: 1 year to 18 years). The amounts of 
principal will be receivable on respective maturity dates or by monthly instalments.

The maturity dates of the Group’s loans and interest receivables are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 274,705 213,860
In more than one year but not more than two years 451 640
In more than two years but not more than five years 1,303 1,991
More than five years 3,267 7,344  

279,726 223,835
Less than one month past due but not impaired – 87
More than nine months but less than one year past due but not impaired 12,425 –
More than one year past due but not impaired 87 –  

292,238 223,922
  

At 31 March 2021, all loans and interest receivables were secured by real estate properties with a total market value of 
approximately HK$464,800,000 (2020: HK$376,550,000) in Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2021, included in the loan and interests receivables are balances of HK$12,512,000 which has been 
past due but not impaired. A writ of possession and fieri facias combined has been issued by Hong Kong High Court on 
1 April 2021. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the application for the execution of the aforementioned writ 
of possession and fieri facias combined in progress. Taking into account the collateral value and executable subsequent 
settlement arrangements, the Directors considered that no allowance for ECL was necessary as at 31 March 2021.

The remaining balance of the loans and interest receivables as at the end of the reporting period were neither past due 
nor impaired. There is no loss allowance for ECL on loans and interest receivables as at 31 March 2021.

Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in Note 35(b).



83

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

22.	 OTHER DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Other debtors (Note*) 2,689 13,169
Receivables due from related parties (Note 29(b)) – 1,106
Deposits 6,425 5,751
Prepayments 5,412 3,108  

14,526 23,134
  

Note*:	 Included in other debtors as at 31 March 2020 was receivable from MPF service provider amounting to HK$9,559,000 and 
was settled during the year ended 31 March 2021.

The carrying amounts of other debtors, deposits and prepayments are neither past due nor impaired.

Details of impairment assessment for other debtors for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in Note 35(b).

23.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash at banks and in hand 194,527 142,680
Short-term bank deposits 459,738 451,428  

654,265 594,108
  

Included in cash at banks and in hand in the consolidated statement of financial position are the following amounts 
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the group entities to which they relate:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

United States Dollars (“US$”) 40,595 16,153
Australian Dollars (“AUD”) 18,248 17,668
Renminbi 1,440 1,327
Other currencies 121 115  

60,404 35,263
  

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposits rates. The interest rates of short-term bank 
deposits ranged from 0.08% to 2.06% (2020: 0.91% to 1.86%) per annum and have a maturity period of one month or 
less and are eligible for immediate cancellation without receiving any interest for the last deposit period.
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24.	 TRADE PAYABLES

The credit periods granted by the Group’s suppliers range from 30 to 90 days. Based on the invoice dates, the aging 
analysis of trade payables at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

0–60 days 11,453 13,662
61–90 days 218 611
Over 90 days 1,381 1,701  

13,052 15,974
  

The Group has risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the respective credit periods.

25.	 OTHER CREDITORS, ACCRUALS AND DEPOSITS RECEIVED

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Other creditors 20,195 25,107
Accruals 20,333 30,881
Accrued wages 1,133 1,313
Deposits received 5,395 5,783  

47,056 63,084
  

The Group’s accruals under current liabilities include the provision of long service payments and provision of litigation, the 
movement of which as follows:

Long service 
payment Litigation
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2020 22,185 106
Over-provision in respect of prior years (3,442) –
Reduction arising from payments (6,320) –  

At 31 March 2021 12,423 106
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26.	 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Contract liabilities arising from publication of advertisements:
– Balance as at 1 April 4,899 6,020

  

– Balance as at 31 March 7,422 4,899
  

Revenue recognised during the year that was included in  
the opening contract liabilities balance 2,846 1,121

  

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the deposits or payments received in advance from customers for advertisement 
on request.

The decrease in contract liabilities as at 31 March 2021 was mainly due to the decrease in advances received from 
customers as a result of the budget reduction of customers for advertisement. 

27.	 BORROWINGS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Other loan due within one year 7,110 5,717
  

At 31 March 2021 and 2020, the other loan is denominated in Australian Dollars and is made by a non-controlling 
shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company which is unsecured, and bears interest at 4% per annum and repayable on 
demand.

28.	 SHARE CAPITAL

Number 
of shares HK$’000

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021,  

ordinary shares with no par value 2,397,917,898 1,413,964
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29.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

(a)	 Transactions with related parties

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the 
Group, during the year, paid legal fees amounting to HK$562,000 (2020: HK$603,000) to Messrs. Iu, Lai & Li. Mr. 
Dominic LAI, a non-executive director of the Company, is a senior partner of Messrs. Iu, Lai & Li. The transaction 
prices were considered by the Directors to be at estimated market price.

No consultancy service fee was received from AMA Holdings Pty Ltd (“AMA”) during the current year (2020: 
HK$1,060,000). Mr. Alexander MA is a director of both AMA and a Company’s subsidiary. The transaction price of 
consultancy service for the year ended 31 March 2020 was considered by the Directors to be at estimated market 
price.

The Directors are of the opinion that the key management personnel were solely the Directors, details of whose 
emoluments are set out in Note 39(a).

(b)	 Balances with related parties

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Due from related parties (Note 22)
AMA Holdings Pty Ltd – 952
Mr. Walter MARR* – 154  

– 1,106
  

*	 Mr. Walter MARR is the father of Mr. Alexander MA.

The balances with related parties are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.
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30.	 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group leases its investment properties (including hotel properties) (Note 16) under operating lease arrangements 
which run for an initial period of one to five years (2020: one to five years), with an option to renew the lease terms at 
the expiry date or at dates as mutually agreed between the Group and the respective tenants. The terms of the leases 
generally require the tenants to pay security deposits. None of the leases include contingent rentals receivable.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by 
the Group in future periods as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 30,048 19,277
Between 1 and 2 years 26,712 15,731
Between 2 and 3 years 8,731 13,974
Between 3 and 4 years 5,043 3,313
Between 4 and 5 years 1,875 489
Later than 5 years – –  

72,409 52,784
  

31.	 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

At 31 March 2021, the Group had the following capital commitments:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of property, plant and  
equipment, contracted for but not provided for in the financial statements 884 –

  

32.	 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Long service payment

Employees who have completed at least five years of services with the Group are entitled to a long service payment, 
which are calculated in accordance with the applicable laws in Hong Kong. For details of the provision and payment, refer 
to Note 25.
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32.	 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME (Continued)

Defined contribution scheme

The employees of the Group in Hong Kong were covered under the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme which is 
a defined contribution scheme and the assets are managed by the trustee. The MPF Scheme is available to all employees 
aged from 18 to 65 and with at least 60 days of service under the employment of the Group in Hong Kong. Contributions 
are made by the Group at 5% of the staff’s relevant income. The maximum relevant income of each staff for contribution 
purpose is HK$30,000 per month. Staff members are entitled to 100% of the Group’s contributions plus the accrued 
returns irrespective of their length of service with the Group, but the benefits are required by law to be preserved until the 
retirement age of 65.

During the year, contributions to the MPF Scheme amounted to HK$14,979,000 (2020: HK$17,317,000).

33.	 OUTSTANDING LITIGATIONS

At the end of the reporting period, there were several outstanding defamatory and other litigations brought against the 
Group. The Group has been strongly contesting those claims. Based on legal opinion, the Directors are of the opinion that 
adequate provision has been made in the consolidated financial statements to cover any potential liabilities arising from 
these litigations.

34.	 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing 
products and services commensurate with the level of risk.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and 
the risk characteristic of underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the 
amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders, raise new debt financing or 
sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. At 31 March 2021, the Group’s net debt-
to-adjusted capital ratio was minimal (2020: minimal). For the purpose of calculating the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio, 
the Group defines net debt as total liabilities excluding deferred tax liabilities less cash and cash equivalents, and adjusted 
capital as all components of equity excluding non-controlling interests.

35.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group does not have written financial risk management policies and guidelines. However, the Directors meet 
periodically to analyse and formulate measures to manage the Group’s exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and market 
risk, including principally changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates.

The Group is not actively engaged in the trading of financial assets for speculative purpose. The most significant financial 
risks to which the Group is exposed are described below. See also Note 35(f) for a summary of financial assets and 
liabilities by category.



89

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

35.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(a)	 Currency risk

Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign currency rates. The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and most of the Group’s 
transactions are carried out in Hong Kong Dollars. The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on transaction 
that is in a currency other than the respective functional currency of the group entities. In addition, the Company 
has intra-group balances with subsidiaries denominated in foreign currency which also expose the Group to 
foreign currency risk. 10% strengthening/weakening of Australian Dollars against Hong Kong Dollars at the end 
of the reporting period would increase/decrease profit or loss by HK$21,478,000. The currency giving rise to 
this risk is primarily Australian Dollars. Currently the Group does not have foreign currency hedging policy but 
the management continuously monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign 
currency exposure where appropriate.

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from 
recognised monetary assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the group 
entities to which they relate.

2021 2020
AUD’000 AUD’000

Cash and cash equivalents 3,083 3,712
Borrowing (1,201) (1,201)  

Net exposure 1,882 2,511
  

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) and other 
components of consolidated equity in response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rate to 
which the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities denominated in Australian Dollars.

2021 2020
Profit 

or loss
Profit 

or loss
HK$’000 HK$’000

AUD 1,114 1,195
  

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the reasonably possible change in foreign 
exchange rate had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to each of the group entities’ 
exposure to currency risk for financial instruments in existence at that date, and that all other variables, in particular 
interest rate, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange 
rates over the period until the end of next reporting period with reference to the historical trend of Australian Dollars 
against Hong Kong Dollars. 10% strengthening of Australian Dollars against Hong Kong Dollars at the end of the 
reporting period would increase equity and profit or loss by the amount shown above. 10% weakening of Australian 
Dollars against Hong Kong Dollars would have had the equal but opposite effect on the above balances. The 
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2020. For currency risk exposure of US Dollars, it is assumed that due 
to the pegged rate between the US Dollars and Hong Kong Dollars, it would not be materially affected.
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35.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(b)	 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation under 
the terms of the financial instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily 
attributable to trade receivables, loans and interest receivables, other debtors and cash and cash equivalents. The 
Group’s exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset.

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Classes of financial assets
Trade receivables 70,447 73,932
Loans and interest receivables 292,238 223,922
Other debtors 2,689 14,275
Cash and cash equivalents 654,265 594,108  

1,019,639 906,237
  

The Company monitors financial assets that are subject to impairment allowances to assess whether there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Trade receivables

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk arising from its ordinary course of business. The 
Group continuously monitors financial conditions of customers and other counterparties, and incorporates this 
information into its credit risk controls. Where available at reasonable cost, external reports on customers and other 
counterparties are obtained and used.

Monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue balances. In addition, 
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on trade receivables. In this regard, the Directors 
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

To measure the ECL, the historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect the current and forward-looking information on 
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers and other counterparties to settle the receivables.
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35.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(b)	 Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

On that basis, the loss allowance for ECL on trade receivables as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 was 
determined as follows:

Within 
1 year

Over 
1 year Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 March 2021

Gross carrying amount 71,920 4,644 76,564
Loss allowance for ECL 2,356 3,761 6,117
Expected credit loss rate 3.28% 80.99% 7.99%

   

Within 
1 year

Over 
1 year Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 March 2020

Gross carrying amount 70,419 7,213 77,632
Loss allowance for ECL 421 3,279 3,700
Expected credit loss rate 0.60% 45.46% 4.77%

   

Movements in the account related to ECL in respect of trade receivables are summarised as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at beginning of year 3,700 3,957
Loss allowance for ECL on receivables 2,331 129
Amounts written off as uncollectible (46) (386)
Exchange differences 132 –  

Balance at end of year 6,117 3,700
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35.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(b)	 Credit risk (Continued)

Other debtors

The Directors assessed the ECL on other debtors are not material as they do not have default history and the 
debtors have a strong capability to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Directors assessed that the ECL on cash and cash equivalents are not material as bank balances are mainly 
placed with reputation banks which are all high-credit quality financial institutions.

Loans and interest receivables

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 30% (2020: 36%) and 98% (2020: 95%) of the total loans and interest 
receivables was due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers respectively within the 
money lending business segment as at 31 March 2021.

For the loans and interest receivables, prior to the lending of loan, the Group will review the financial strength, 
purpose of the borrowing and repayment ability of the borrower to ensure that the borrower has sound financial 
repayment ability. The Group assesses the credit profiles of each individual borrower by analysing the factors that 
influence the default probability, including (but not limited to) the counterparty’s financial profile, business prospects 
and management, macroeconomic development, industrial and sovereign risk, and historical performance. The 
Group also reviews from time to time the financial conditions of the borrowers and corresponding collaterals.

For all loans receivables, the Group holds collateral against loans and interest receivables. All collaterals are 
Hong Kong properties pledged against the balances. Individual risk limits are set based on the value of collaterals 
provided by borrowers and internal ratings in accordance with the limits set by the Group. The utilisation of credit 
limits is regularly monitored.

The Group make ECL estimates based on the collaterals against loan receivables, borrowers’ creditworthiness, 
the delinquencies or defaults in interest or principal payments, borrowers’ business and the industry to which 
borrowers belong and local economic conditions.

The Directors are of the opinion that no loss allowance for ECL is necessary for these balances as there has not 
been a significant change in credit risk and the respective overdue principals and interests were still fully secured 
by the fair values of collaterals at their respective estimated selling prices. The estimated market value (less cost of 
disposal) of the collaterals (property interests) are higher than the carrying amount of these receivables at the end 
of the reporting period. Accordingly, the ECLs of these balances are minimal.
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35.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(c)	 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk for changes in interest rates relates 
primarily to the Group’s short-term bank deposits which generate interest income for the Group. The Group does 
not engage in derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest rate risk.

The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s short-term bank deposits at the end of the 
reporting period.

2021 2020
Interest rates HK$’000 Interest rates HK$’000

Bank deposits 0.08% to 2.06% 459,738 0.91% to 1.86% 451,428
    

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2021, it was estimated that a general increase/decrease of 10 basis points in interest rates, with 
all other variables held constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by 
approximately HK$460,000 (2020: HK$451,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the 
end of the reporting period and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for financial instruments at the 
end of the reporting period. The 10 basis points increase or decrease represents the management’s assessment 
of reasonably possible change in interest rates over the period until the end of next reporting period. The analysis 
is performed on the same basis for 2020.

(d)	 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its obligation associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or other financial assets. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect 
of settlement of trade payables and its financing obligations, and also in respect of its cash flow management. The 
Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank and 
other borrowings.
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35.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(d)	 Liquidity risk (Continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual 
undiscounted amounts, is as follows:

Contractual undiscounted cash flow 
Carrying 
amount Total

On 
demand

Less than 
6 months

6 to 12 
months

1 to 
5 years

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2021
Trade payables 13,052 13,052 13,052 – – –
Other creditors and 

accruals 41,661 41,661 41,661 – – –
Borrowings 7,110 7,110 7,110 – – –      

 61,823 61,823 61,823 – – –
      

2020
Trade payables 15,974 15,974 15,974 – – –
Other creditors and 

accruals 57,301 57,301 57,301 – – –
Borrowings 5,717 5,717 5,717 – – –      

78,992 78,992 78,992 – – –
      

(e)	 Fair value measurements

Fair value of financial asset that is measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The Group’s financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The information 
about how the fair value of the financial assets at FVTPL are determined are set out in Note 17.

During the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level 
1 and Level 2, or transfer into or out of Level 3.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost were not materially 
different from their fair values as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 because of the immediate or short term of these 
financial instruments. 
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35.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(f)	 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as recognised at the end of the reporting period 
are categorised as follows:

2021

Financial assets

Financial 
asset at 

FVTPL

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 8,817 – 8,817
Trade receivables – 70,447 70,447
Loans and interests receivables – 292,238 292,238
Other debtors – 2,689 2,689
Cash and cash equivalents – 654,265 654,265   

8,817 1,019,639 1,028,456
   

Financial liabilities

At 
amortised 

cost
HK$’000

Trade payables 13,052
Other creditors and accruals 41,661
Borrowings 7,110 

61,823
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35.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(f)	 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category (Continued)

2020

Financial assets

Financial 
asset at 
FVTPL

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 9,453 – 9,453
Trade receivables – 73,932 73,932
Loans and interests receivables – 223,922 223,922
Other debtors – 14,275 14,275
Cash and cash equivalents – 594,108 594,108   

9,453 906,237 915,690
   

Financial liabilities

At 
amortised 

cost
HK$’000

Trade payables 15,974
Other creditors and accruals 57,301
Borrowings 5,717 

78,992
 

See Note 3.10 for explanations about how the classification of financial instruments affects their subsequent 
measurement.
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36.	 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2021 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/ 
operation

Issued and 
fully paid 

up capital Principal activity

Don Bon Property Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Investing holding
Long Universal Limited# Hong Kong HK$1 Canteen operation
Lucky Million Limited# Hong Kong HK$1 Transportation service
On.cc Limited# Hong Kong HK$2 Website service provider
OPG Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Treasury company
OPG Human Resources Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Human resources services
OPG Printing Limited Hong Kong HK$100 Printing services
Oriental Daily News Limited Hong Kong HK$100 Advertising agent
Oriental Daily Publisher Limited# Hong Kong HK$100 Newspaper publication
Oriental FA Limited Hong Kong HK$100 Money lending
Oriental Press Centre Limited Hong Kong HK$100 Property holding
Oriental Publications Limited Hong Kong HK$100 Publication services
Safety Corporation Limited# Hong Kong HK$10 Property investment
Win Magazine Publisher Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Printing of magazine
ORO Group Pty Limited#* Australia AUD8,500,000 Property investment
Pacific Resort Holding Pty Limited##* Australia AUD3,150,000 Hotel property investment

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results 
of the year or formed a substantial portion of the assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries 
would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

All the subsidiaries are directly held and wholly-owned private limited companies except otherwise stated.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

#	 100% of equity interest indirectly held by the Company
##	 90% of equity interest indirectly held by the Company
*	 Not audited by HLM CPA Limited



98

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

ORIENTAL PRESS GROUP LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

37.	 STATEMENT OF THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 2,767 4,897
Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 8,817 9,453
Investments in subsidiaries 1 1  

11,585 14,351  

Current assets
Prepayments 298 217
Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,795,953 1,576,089
Tax refundable 85 –
Cash and cash equivalents 2,069 1,862  

1,798,405 1,578,168  

Current liabilities
Trade payables 2,397 2,352
Tax payables – 1,349  

2,397 3,701  

Net current assets 1,796,008 1,574,467  

Total assets less current liabilities 1,807,593 1,588,818  

Non-current liability
Deferred tax liabilities 277 528  

Net assets 1,807,316 1,588,290
  

EQUITY
Share capital 28 1,413,964 1,413,964
Reserves 38 393,352 174,326  

Total equity 1,807,316 1,588,290
  

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and authorised for issue by the Directors on 18 June 2021 
and signed on its behalf by:

Ching-fat MA Ching-choi MA
Director Director
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38.	 RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Retained 
profit

HK$’000

At 1 April 2019 218,470

2019 final dividend paid (47,958)
Total comprehensive income for the year 3,814 

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 174,326

2021 interim dividend paid (47,958)
Total comprehensive income for the year 266,984 

At 31 March 2021 393,352
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39.	 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a)	 Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ emoluments for the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Companies Ordinance, 
are as follows:

Fees
Salaries and 
allowances

Contribution 
to defined 

contribution 
plan Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 March 2021
Executive Directors
Mr. Ching-fat MA – 19,500 18 19,518
Mr. Ching-choi MA – 15,600 18 15,618
Mr. Shun-chuen LAM – 2,732 – 2,732

Non-executive Director
Mr. Dominic LAI 150 – – 150

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yau-nam CHAM 140 – – 140
Mr. Ping-wing PAO 175 – – 175
Mr. Yat-fai LAM 185 – – 185    

650 37,832 36 38,518
    

Year ended 31 March 2020
Executive Directors
Mr. Ching-fat MA – 19,500 18 19,518
Mr. Ching-choi MA – 15,600 18 15,618
Mr. Shun-chuen LAM – 2,733 – 2,733

Non-executive Director
Mr. Dominic LAI 140 – – 140

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yau-nam CHAM 130 – – 130
Mr. Ping-wing PAO 160 – – 160
Mr. Yat-fai LAM 170 – – 170    

600 37,833 36 38,469
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39.	 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a)	 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The Directors’ emoluments disclosed above are mainly for their services in connection with the management of the 
affairs of the Company and the Group.

The Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities with the Company, the 
Company’s current standards for emoluments and the market conditions.

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.

During the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020, no emoluments had been paid by the Group to the Directors or 
the five highest-paid individuals referred to in Note 13 as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a 
compensation for loss of office.

(b)	 Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

Except from disclosed in Note 29(a), no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance to which the 
Group as a party and in which a Director had material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end 
of the year or at any time during the year.

(c)	 Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of the Directors or body corporate controlled by such Directors, 
or entities connected with such Directors, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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40.	 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)	 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and 
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash 
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Other loan
HK$’000

1 April 2019 6,691 

Changes from cash flows:
Interest paid (255) 

Non-cash changes:
Interest expenses 255
Foreign exchange translation (974) 

(719) 

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 5,717 

Changes from cash flows:
Interest paid (269) 

Non-cash changes:
Interest expenses 269
Foreign exchange translation 1,393 

1,662 

At 31 March 2021 7,110
 

(b)	 Total cash outflow for leases of low-value assets included in the consolidated statement of cash flows within 
operating activities amounted to HK$2,244,000 (2020: HK$2,686,000).

41.	 EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

(1)	 The COVID-19 outbreak and the recent Australian Government anti-pandemic measures have brought about 
additional uncertainties in the Group’s operating environment and have impacted the Group’s operations and 
financial position. Since the development of the COVID-19 remains uncertain, it is not practicable to estimate the 
full financial effect that the pandemic may have had on the Group’s operations.

(2)	 On 18 June 2021, the Board proposes to change the name of the Company from “Oriental Press Group Limited 
東方報業集團有限公司” to “Oriental Enterprise Holdings Limited 東方企控集團有限公司”. The Change of 
Company Name is subject to satisfaction of the following conditions: (1) the passing of a special resolution by the 
Shareholders at the Annual General Meeting approving the Change of Company Name; and (2) the Registrar of 
Companies in Hong Kong approving the Change of Company Name. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions 
set out above, the Change of Company Name will take effect from the date on which the certificate of change of 
name is issued by the Companies Registry in Hong Kong confirming that the new name has been registered.
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For the year ended 31 March
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Restated)

Revenue 1,000,303 979,905 901,715 823,014 699,619
     

Profit/(loss) attributable to owners  
of the Company 163,889 158,134 81,388 (10,987) 211,238

     

Total assets 2,677,711 2,634,158 1,982,339 1,897,097 2,082,411
Total liabilities (180,841) (167,531) (156,818) (148,402) (143,956)
Non-controlling interests (5,812) (7,306) (6,508) (5,103) (7,933)     

Equity attributable to owners  
of the Company 2,491,058 2,459,321 1,819,013 1,743,592 1,930,522
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Details of the Group’s major properties as at 31 March 2021 are as follows:

LAND AND BUILDINGS

Location
Approximate 
floor area Category Lease term

Group 
interest Existing use

Oriental Press Centre
23 Dai Cheong Street
Tai Po Industrial Estate
Tai Po
Hong Kong

490,000 Sq ft Industrial Medium-term 100% Own use

Units 1 to 4 on 22 Floor
Island Place Tower
Island Place
No. 510 King’s Road
North Point
Hong Kong

8,480 Sq ft Commercial Medium-term 100% Investment property

Units 5 to 6 on 22 Floor
Island Place Tower
Island Place
No. 510 King’s Road
North Point
Hong Kong

5,966 Sq ft Commercial Medium-term 100% Own use

Metro Aspire Hotel
383 Bulwara Road
Ultimo 2007
Sydney
Australia

31,000 Sq ft Commercial Freehold 90% Operating hotel  
business by licensee

2 Short Street
Double Bay
NSW
Australia

6,600 Sq ft Commercial Freehold 100% Investment property

29, 31 & 33 Bay Street
Double Bay
NSW
Australia

4,800 Sq ft Commercial Freehold 100% Investment property

35, 37 & 39 Bay Street
Double Bay
NSW
Australia

8,000 Sq ft Commercial Freehold 100% Investment property
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